

## INTEGRATED CIRCUIT DESIGN OF SIGMA-DELTA MODULATOR FOR ELECTRIC ENERGY MEASUREMENT APPLICATIONS

Jorge Vicente De la Cruz Marin

Dissertação de Mestrado apresentada ao Programa de Pós-graduação em Engenharia Elétrica, COPPE, da Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, como parte dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do título de Mestre em Engenharia Elétrica.

Orientador: Antonio Petraglia

Rio de Janeiro Outubro de 2013

## INTEGRATED CIRCUIT DESIGN OF SIGMA-DELTA MODULATOR FOR ELECTRIC ENERGY MEASUREMENT APPLICATIONS

Jorge Vicente De la Cruz Marin

DISSERTAÇÃO SUBMETIDA AO CORPO DOCENTE DO INSTITUTO ALBERTO LUIZ COIMBRA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO E PESQUISA DE ENGENHARIA (COPPE) DA UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO RIO DE JANEIRO COMO PARTE DOS REQUISITOS NECESSÁRIOS PARA A OBTENÇÃO DO GRAU DE MESTRE EM CIÊNCIAS EM ENGENHARIA ELÉTRICA.

Examinada por:

Prof. Antonio Petraglia, Ph.D.

Prof. Fernando Antônio Pinto Barúqui, D.Sc.

Prof. Estêvão Coelho Teixeira, D.Sc.

RIO DE JANEIRO, RJ – BRASIL OUTUBRO DE 2013 Marin, Jorge Vicente De la Cruz

Integrated Circuit Design of Sigma-Delta Modulator for Electric Energy Measurement Applications/Jorge Vicente De la Cruz Marin. – Rio de Janeiro: UFRJ/COPPE, 2013.

XVI, 84 p.: il.; 29,7cm.

Orientador: Antonio Petraglia

Dissertação (mestrado) – UFRJ/COPPE/Programa de Engenharia Elétrica, 2013.

Referências Bibliográficas: p. 80 – 84.

Sigma-Delta Modulator.
 Mixed-signal Circuits.
 Switched Capacitors.
 OTA.
 Adaptive Biasing.
 CMOS.
 Petraglia, Antonio.
 Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, COPPE, Programa de Engenharia Elétrica.
 Título.

A mis padres

## Agradecimientos

A mis padres, Manuela y Carlos, en quienes siempre encuentro apoyo incondicional e infinito cariño.

A mi abuela Hortencia porque su recuerdo esta presente en todos los momentos.

A mis tios Vicente, Julio, Eli y Rosenda que son mi inspiración y ejemplo.

Ao meu professor e orientador Antonio Petraglia, pelos conhecimentos brindados e paciencia durante o mestrado.

Aos professores do PADS, especialmente ao Baruqui que sempre esteve disposto para resolver minhas dúvidas.

Ao senhor Hudson, senhora Adelina, Mariana, Verônica e toda a família... Vocês me fizeram sentir como um membro mais da família e me convidaram a entrar no seu lar sempre com um sorriso.

A mi mas que "hermano" Oscar con quien comparto un sueño que nos ha mantenido en el mismo camino, siempre apoyandome y estando presente en todos los momentos.

A Oscar, Lucas, Santiago, Hernan, Fede, Tincho, Miguel, Bárbara y Eva con quienes viví experiencias inolvidables en la ciudad maravillosa.

Aos meus amigos e colegas do PADS Oscar, Fabián, Thiago, Fernanda, Genildo, Ricardo, Gustavo e Allan... a experiência deste mestrado não tivesse sido igual sem vocês.

A mis viejos amigos Suzye, Pierre y Eduart que su amistad siempre se matuvo intacta y son la fotografia de los buenos e inolvidables momentos que pase en mi ciudad natal.

A todos los que hicieron parte desta experiencia.

Muchas Gracias!

Resumo da Dissertação apresentada à COPPE/UFRJ como parte dos requisitos necessários para a obtenção do grau de Mestre em Ciências (M.Sc.)

### INTEGRATED CIRCUIT DESIGN OF SIGMA-DELTA MODULATOR FOR ELECTRIC ENERGY MEASUREMENT APPLICATIONS

Jorge Vicente De la Cruz Marin

Outubro/2013

Orientador: Antonio Petraglia

Programa: Engenharia Elétrica

O projeto de um modulador sigma-delta, como parte de um conversor analógicodigital de um circuito integrado de medição de energia eléctrica é apresentado. Os principais requisitos deste tipo de aplicação são uma resolução de 16 bits e uma largura de banda de 40 Hz a 2 KHz. O projeto foi otimizado a nível de sistema para atingir o SNR máximo usando valores de capacitância mínimos. No circuito, o consumo de energia foi priorizado e blocos de baixo consumo foram utilizados como OTA com polarização adaptativo e comparador chaveado. O circuito foi desenvolvido na tecnologia CMOS 180 nm que utiliza 1.8 V como tensão de alimentação padrão. Simulações em cada *corner* da tecnologia confirmam que o modulador atinje as especificações, mesmo no pior caso. Além disso, simulações de Monte Carlo foram realizadas. Abstract of Dissertation presented to COPPE/UFRJ as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science (M.Sc.)

### INTEGRATED CIRCUIT DESIGN OF SIGMA-DELTA MODULATOR FOR ELECTRIC ENERGY MEASUREMENT APPLICATIONS

Jorge Vicente De la Cruz Marin

October/2013

Advisor: Antonio Petraglia Department: Electrical Engineering

The design of a sigma-delta modulator as part of an analog-to-digital converter for a monolithic electric energy measurement system is presented. The main requirements such applications are a resolution of 16 bits and a bandwidth ranging from 40 Hz to 2 KHz. The design was optimized at system level to attain maximum SNR using minimal capacitance values. At circuit level, the power consumption was prioritized and low power blocks, such as adaptive bias OTA and clocked comparator were used. The circuit was developed in a 180 nm CMOS process technology that employs 1.8 V as standard supply voltage. The simulations on each corner of the technology confirm that the modulator satisfies the specifications even in the worst case. Monte Carlo simulations were performed, as well.

# Contents

$\mathbf{Li}$	ist of	Figur	es		xi
$\mathbf{Li}$	ist of		xiv		
$\mathbf{Li}$	ist of	Acron	iyms		xv
1	Intr	oducti	ion		1
	1.1	Motiv	ation		1
	1.2	Marke	et Summa	ry of Electric Energy Meters	4
	1.3	The N	leed for C	Oversampling ADCs	4
	1.4	Objec	tives and	$Methodology \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ $	6
	1.5	Struct	ure of the	e Dissertation	7
<b>2</b>	Sigr	na-De	lta Mod	ulator	8
	2.1	Funda	mentals		8
		2.1.1	Perform	ance Metrics	10
			2.1.1.1	Total harmonic distortion (THD)	10
			2.1.1.2	Spurious free dynamic range (SFDR)	10
			2.1.1.3	Signal-to-noise ratio (SNR)	10
			2.1.1.4	Signal-to-(noise+distortion) ratio (SNDR) $\ldots \ldots$	11
			2.1.1.5	Dynamic range (DR)	
			2.1.1.6	Effective number of bits (ENOB)	11
			2.1.1.7	Overload level $(X_{OL})$	11
		2.1.2	Oversan	npling	12
		2.1.3	$\Sigma\Delta$ Mo	dulation $\ldots$	13
		2.1.4	Oversan	npling Noise-Shaping ADC	14
		2.1.5	First Or	der $\Sigma\Delta$ Modulator	14
	2.2	Archit	ectures		17
		2.2.1	-	or Order	
		2.2.2	Topolog	ies	21
			2.2.2.1	Distributed feedback	22
			2.2.2.2	Feed-forward	22

		$2.2.2.3  \text{Hybrids}  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  $	24
		2.2.2.4 Local Feedback Loops	24
		2.2.3 Domain	25
		2.2.4 Quantizer $\ldots$	27
	2.3	Architecture Selection	28
	2.4	Related Works	29
3	$\mathbf{Syst}$	tem Level Design	32
	3.1	Simulink Models	32
	3.2	DAC Reference Voltage	34
	3.3	Modulator Coefficients	35
		3.3.1 SNR Optimization	36
		3.3.2 Ideal Modulator Response	38
	3.4	Non-ideal Integrator	40
		3.4.1 Finite DC Gain	40
		3.4.2 Slew-Rate and Gain-Bandwidth Product	41
		3.4.3 Saturation Voltage	43
		3.4.4 Noise	43
		3.4.5 Specification of the Analog Blocks	46
		3.4.6 Noiseless Non-ideal Model Simulation	46
		3.4.7 Noisy Non-ideal Model Simulation	47
4	Circ	cuit Design	49
	4.1	Introduction to Switched-Capacitor Circuits	49
		4.1.1 Channel Charge Injection	50
		4.1.2 Clock Feedthrough	50
		4.1.3 $kT/C$ Noise	51
	4.2	Integrator	51
	4.3	Switches	53
	4.4	Amplifier	54
		4.4.1 Bias Circuit	58
		4.4.2 Common Mode feedback block	59
	4.5	Quantizer	59
	4.6	DAC	61
	4.7	Feed-forward Coefficients	61
	4.8	Non-overlapping clock	62
	4.9	Modulator	63

<b>5</b>	Sim	ulations and Results	65
	5.1	Quantizer	65
	5.2	Non-overlapping clock	66
	5.3	ОТА	67
		5.3.1 Nominal simulation	67
		5.3.2 PVT simulation	69
		5.3.3 Montecarlo Simulations	72
	5.4	Modulator	73
		5.4.1 Noiseless simulations	74
		5.4.2 Noise simulation using SpectreRF	75
		5.4.3 Noise simulation using transient noise	76
	5.5	Comparison and performance summary	76
6	Con	clusions	78
	6.1	General Conclusions	78
	6.2	Future Work	79
		6.2.1 System level	79
		6.2.2 Circuit level	79
Bi	bliog	raphy	80

# List of Figures

1.1	Standard supply voltage of various CMOS technologies	2
1.2	Bandwidth and resolution requirements of an ADC for different ap-	
	plications.	3
1.3	Typical bandwidth and resolution specifications of different ADC ar-	
	chitectures	5
1.4	Top-down/Bottom-up design flow of the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator	6
2.1	Block diagram of a Nyquist-rate ADC.	9
2.2	Typical spectrum of a modulator output	10
2.3	Example of plot of SNR vs. Input power	11
2.4	Block diagram of an oversampling ADC	12
2.5	Advantages of the oversampling ADC	12
2.6	Delta and Sigma-Delta Modulators	13
2.7	Block diagram of a $\Sigma\Delta$ ADC	14
2.8	Linear model of Fig. 2.6(b). $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	14
2.9	Ideal SQNR as a function of the normalized input power	16
2.10	Exemplary simulation of a first-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator	17
2.11	Design-space of a modulator architecture	18
2.12	$L^{th}$ -order $\Sigma\Delta$ Modulators	19
2.13	Ideal SQNR and ENOB vs. OSR for different filter orders	20
2.14	Basic Multi-Stage Noise-Shaping (MASH) Modulator	21
2.15	$L^{th}$ -order feed-forward summation topology	23
2.16	$L^{th}$ -order fully feed-forward topology	24
2.17	$L^{th}$ -order hybrid topology	25
2.18	Local feedback loop.	25
2.19	Continuous-time $\Sigma\Delta$ ADC	26
2.20	Possible implementations of a loop filter	26
2.21	$2^{nd}$ -order fully feed-forward topology	29
3.1	Ideal Simulink model of full feed-forward second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator.	33

3.2	Non-ideal Simulink model of full feed-forward second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ mod-	
	ulator	33
3.3	Noisy non-ideal Simulink model of full feed-forward second-order $\Sigma\Delta$	
	Modulator.	34
3.4	Effect of the DAC in the output dynamic range of the first integrator.	34
3.5	Discrete time $2^{nd}$ order full feed-forward $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator	36
3.6	Frequency responses of the $\Sigma\Delta$ Modulator	38
3.7	PSD of the output signal	38
3.8	Histogram of the integrators outputs	39
3.9	SQNR as a function of the input power. $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	40
3.10	Non-idealities of a discrete-time integrator	41
3.11	Non-ideal integrator developed in [1]	42
3.12	$SR_{min}$ and $\tau$ vs. GBW	43
3.13	Noisy integrator developed in [1]	44
3.14	Maximum RMS noise voltage vs. minimum capacitor value	45
3.15	PSD of the output signal using the real-noiseless model	46
3.16	PSD of the output signal using a noisy non-ideal model	47
3.17	Histogram of the integrators output for noisy non-ideal simulation	47
3.18	SNR as a function on the input power.	48
4.1	(a) Resistor and (b) switched-capacitor resistor.	49
4.2	Charge injection in a sampling circuit.	50
4.3	Clock feedthrough in a sampling circuit.	51
4.4	Parasitic-insensitive integrator.	52
4.5	Clocking scheme of the integrator	52
4.6	Fully differential parasitic-insensitive integrator.	53
4.7	Circuit implementation of a switch.	54
4.8	Folded cascode OTA.	55
4.9	Folded cascode OTA with adaptive bias.	56
4.10	Bias circuit of the OTA.	58
4.11	Common mode feedback block.	59
4.12	Quantizer circuit: clocked comparator and latch	60
4.13	1-bit DAC	61
4.14	Feed-forward circuit.	62
4.15	Non-overlapping clock generation.	63
	Generation of the complementary signals for the switches	63
4.17	Circuit implementation of the entire modulator	64
5.1	Input/Output signals of the quantizer.	66
5.2	Clock phases	66

5.3	Nominal frequency response of the OTA	67
5.4	Nominal PSD of the equivalent input noise of the OTA	68
5.5	Step response	68
5.6	Corner simulations of the OTA frequency response	70
5.7	Corner simulations of the PSD of the OTA equivalent input noise	71
5.8	Corner simulations of the OTA step response	71
5.9	Histograms of the GBW, DC gain, phase margin, input noise RMS	
	voltage, power and SR	72
5.10	Histograms of the upper headroom voltage and settling time	73
5.11	Nominal PSD of the modulator output	74
5.12	PVT simulation of the PSD of the modulator	75
5.13	Nominal transient noise simulation of the modulator.	76

# List of Tables

1.1	Review of the electric energy measurement IC market	4
2.1	Modulator Specifications	29
2.2	Related Works	30
2.3	Related Works (cont)	31
3.1	SNR maximums	36
3.2	System-level Simulation Parameters	37
3.3	Amplifier Requirements	46
4.1	Integrator capacitance values	53
4.2	Switch transistor dimensions	54
4.3	OTA transistor dimensions	57
4.4	Transistor dimensions of the OTA bias circuit	58
4.5	CMFB capacitance values	59
4.6	Transistor dimensions of 1-bit quantizer	60
4.7	DAC reference voltages	61
4.8	Capacitance values of the feed-forward circuit	63
5.1	Nominal results of the OTA	69
5.2	PVT results of the OTA	69
5.3	Corners of the OTA	70
5.4	Statistical results of the Monte Carlo simulations of the OTA	73
5.5	Results of the PVT simulations of the noiseless modulator	74
5.6	Results of the PVT simulations of the noisy modulator	75
5.7	Comparisons with other approaches proposed in the literature	77
5.8	Comparisons with other approaches proposed in the literature (cont).	77

# List of Acronyms

AAF	Anti-aliasing filter
ADC	Analog-to-digital converter
ASIC	Application specific integrated circuits
CMOS	Complementary metal oxide semiconductor
CT	Continuous time
DAC	Digital-to-Analog converter
DC	Direct current
DR	Dynamic range
DSP	Digital signal processor
DT	Discrete time
ENOB	Effective number of bits
FOM	Figure of merit
GBW	$Gain-bandwidth\ product$
IC	Integrated circuit
INL	Integral non-linearity
MASH	Multi-stage noise-shaping
NTF	Noise transfer function
OSR	Oversampling Ratio
OTA	Operational transconductance amplifier
PSD	Power spectral density

- PVT Process, voltage and temperature
- RMS Root mean square
- SC Switched capacitor
- SFDR Spurious free dynamic range
- SINAD Signal to noise and distortion ratio
  - $\Sigma\Delta$  Sigma-Delta
- SNDR Signal to noise plus distortion ratio
- SNR Signal to noise Ratio
- SoC System on Chip
- STF Signal transfer function
- SQNR Signal to quantization noise ratio
  - THD Total harmonic distortion
- UGF Unity gain frequency
- VLSI Very Large scale of Integration
- $X_{OL}$  Overload level

# Chapter 1

## Introduction

The present work aims at showing the entire design of a sigma-delta ( $\Sigma\Delta$ ) modulator as part of an analog-to-digital converter (ADC) for an electric energy measurement integrated circuit (IC). The modulator was designed using 180nm CMOS (complementary metal oxide semiconductor) process technology with 1.8V of supply voltage featuring low power consumption. The  $\Sigma\Delta$  ADC is divided into two main parts:  $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator (analog domain) and the decimator (digital domain). Basically, the decimator consists of a digital filter and a downsampler that deliver a limited frequency signal with a specific number of bits and reduced sampling frequency (typically by the same ratio as the oversampling ratio). The  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator conveys the modulated input signal to the digital circuit with a high signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) that permits to attain the resolution required. There are numerous ways to implement a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator and, depending on the application, each one possesses its respective advantages. Electric energy measurement applications require high accuracy (more than 16 bits) and a bandwidth that range from 40 Hz to 2 KHz. Hence, the main focus of this work is to design a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator that accomplish the application requirements considering the issues at each stage of the top-bottom design flow (from the system level to physical design).

## 1.1 Motivation

The evolution of the CMOS technology during the last decades has allowed the presence of electronic systems in many aspects of our daily life: automotive, communications, consumer electronics, information technology, medicine, etc. Clearly, the most important evolution is the geometry dimension reduction of the devices and interconnections of the CMOS technology. The miniaturization has allowed the integration of millions of transistors -very large scale of integration (VLSI)- in a single chip as, for example, the last microprocessor of Intel whit its 1.4 billion of transistors in their Third Generation Intel<sup>®</sup> Core<sup>TM</sup> Processor. Furthermore, the

speed of the digital circuits has been upgraded as well, allowing its operation in the gigahertz range. In addition, the power supply voltage has been decreased (see Fig. 1.1) to maintain moderate electric fields inside the device thus avoiding large leakage currents. Consequently, the power consumption of the digital circuits has diminished, further enhancing their performances. The mentioned features have permitted to integrate complete electronic systems on a single chip, where the digital signal processor (DSP) is used to implement complex algorithms that process huge quantity of data in a few seconds. Hence, it is clear that there is a trend to exploit the digital capability by implementing all the system functionalities in the digital domain and letting only the interfacing tasks to the analog circuits (in most cases). This is commonly known as system-on-chip (SoC). It is worth noting that although the characteristics of modern technologies improve the operation of the digital circuits, significant drawbacks have introduced in the analog design such as the operation at low voltage, the short-channel effects and larger leakages currents.



Figure 1.1: Standard supply voltage of various CMOS technologies.

The essential part of the interfacing circuits on a SoC is done by the ADC and the digital-to-analog converter (DAC), whereby these blocks are implemented in the same die that the DSP. It is important to notice that the converters are the bottleneck of the overall system so that the resolution, dynamic range and speed converter requirements have increased with modern technologies to maximize the DSP capacity. The issue here is that the analog circuits of the converters are implemented in a digital CMOS process in which the analog primitives are not fully optimized. As a result, they operate at low voltage supply with relatively high threshold voltage and in an environment full of noisy digital circuits. In conclusion, among the existing ADC topologies, the  $\Sigma\Delta$  ADC is the more suitable solution for SoCs implementations since it is able to achieve high accuracy at a reasonable speed conversion, leverages the digital CMOS process features and is relatively insensitive to fabrication process variations. This balance is obtained using noise shaping technique and high sampling rate at the cost of the circuit complexity.



Figure 1.2: Bandwidth and resolution requirements of an ADC for different applications.

Figure 1.2 illustrates the frequency range and resolution requirements of the ADCs for different applications. It is important to note that despite the fact that the measurement systems operate at low frequencies, the ADC requires a large number of bits. This is the case of electric energy measurement ICs wherein the bandwidth of the input signal goes from 40 Hz to 2 KHz and demand minimum resolution of 16 bits. Those values are determined by the specifications of the standard IEC-61036, which requests more than 20 harmonics, wide dynamic range, measurement accuracy of 0.5% and detection of an input signal that varies from 4% to 400%. It is worth mentioning that the ADC receive a nearly constant amplitude signal since it is preceded by a programmable gain amplifier. An important quality parameter of the measurement IC is also based on its low power consumption, specially because it uses the power of the source being measured. Hence, the design of a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator that reaches the application requirements featuring low power consumption and using an standard CMOS fabrication process is a trend. Moreover, since the main consumer of static power in the modulator is the operational transconductance amplifier (OTA) and it requires high bandwidth and high slew-rate, the design of this amplifier using the minimum power consumption represents a challenge.

## **1.2** Market Summary of Electric Energy Meters

The electric energy measurement IC is a growth market and there are products from simple application specific integrated circuits (ASICs) to SoC circuits. Table 1.1 lists some products that are available in the market and their corresponding ADC features. It is important to remark that some system requirements are set by the standard IEC-61036, in which the minimum accuracy is specified as 0.5% and is given by

$$Accuracy(\%) = \frac{Energy \ Registered - True \ Energy}{True \ Energy} \times 100\%.$$
(1.1)

Component	$V_{DD}$ (V)	$V_{REF}$ (V)	Bits	$f_s(\mathrm{Hz})$	BW(Hz)	Type	Year
AD51xx	2.4 - 3.7	1.2	24	819.2K	40 - 2K	SoC	2008-2012
(66, 59)							
AD55xx	2.4 - 3.7	1.2	24	819.2K	40 - 2K	SoC	2008-2012
(66, 69)							
AD71xx	2.4 - 3.7	1.2	24	819.2K	40 - 2K	SoC	2007-2008
$(16,\!56,\!66,\!69)$							
AD75xx	2.4 - 3.7	1.2	24	819.2K	40 - 2K	SoC	2007-2008
$(18,\!66,\!69)$							
AD7753	5	2.4	24	819.2K	40 - 2K	ASIC	2009
AD7756	5	2.5	20	819.2K	40 - 2K	ASIC	2001
AD7759	5	2.5	20	819.2K	40 - 2K	ASIC	2009
AD7763	5	2.5	24	819.2K	40 - 2K	ASIC	2004-2009
STPMxx	2.5	1.2	16	1M	40 - 2K	ASIC	2011
(01,11)							

Table 1.1: Review of the electric energy measurement IC market

The use of 20 harmonics, which means a bandwidth of 40Hz-2KHz, is enough to develop a solution for this kind of application. Furthermore, in order to accomplish the resolution requirements, 16 bits at the ADC output are sufficient.

## 1.3 The Need for Oversampling ADCs

The ADC architectures are classified in two main types in the literature: Nyquistrate and oversampling converters. In the former, the bandwidth of the input signal comprises a half of the available bandwidth while in the second one only a small portion of the bandwidth is occupied. This difference is quantized by the oversampling ratio ( $OSR = f_s/2f_{in}$ ) which is defined as the ratio between the sampling frequency ( $f_s$ ) and the minimum sampling frequency ( $2f_{in}$ ), also known as the Nyquist frequency. The Nyquist-rate ADCs have a small OSR (typically less than 8) and the oversampling ADCs have a OSR value ranging from 8 to 512. Figure 1.3 illustrates the trade-off between accuracy and speed of various ADC architectures, of which the only oversampling converter is the  $\Sigma\Delta$  architecture.



Figure 1.3: Typical bandwidth and resolution specifications of different ADC architectures.

The faster ADC is the full-flash converter (capable of operating at a conversion speed above 1GHz), but its drawback is that only achieve low resolutions (usually up to 8 bits) since its area is directly proportional  $2^{M}$  (where M is the number of bits). Moreover, its resolution is even more critical when it is implemented using low-voltage technologies. The folding architecture does not achieve the speed conversion of the full-flash ADC, but allows a couple of more bits at high speed conversion. The pipelined ADC fits better for applications that require more than 10 bits and speed conversion from 1MHz to 100MHz. The successive approximation register (SAR) architecture is adequate for medium speed and medium resolution applications. When high resolution is required, the integrating ADC is a good alternative, but it requires at least  $2^N$  (N is the number of bits) clock periods to convert a single sample. Hence, this architecture is the best option for applications that manage very low frequencies and need high resolution. In general, the Nyquist-rate converters cannot provide good accuracy with high speed conversion. In contrast, the  $\Sigma\Delta$  ADC is able to achieve over 20 bits with reasonable conversion speed at the cost of circuit complexity and high sampling frequency. In conclusion, the requirements considered above indicate that the more appropriate ADC architecture for the implementation of an electric energy measurement IC is a  $\Sigma\Delta$  structure.

## **1.4** Objectives and Methodology

The general objective of this work is the design of a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator that is used in an ADC for electric energy measurement application. Basically, the modulator must achieve a high SNR that allows more than 16 bits at the ADC output for signals that range from 40Hz to 2KHz. An additional objective is reaching low power consumption by reducing the static power of the integrator's OTA.

Figure 1.4 illustrates the design flow of the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator. It can be observed that each superior level defines the specifications of an inferior level and the verification must be done at each stage and from the bottom to the system level. It means that the extracted parameters of the lowest level must be used to simulate the critical system level parameters. In order to accomplish this design flow this work is developed in four stages, as described below.



Figure 1.4: Top-down/Bottom-up design flow of the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator.

1. Study of the state of art of  $\Sigma\Delta$  converters and definition of the system specifications based on the application requirements. Also, a study of the commercial ICs for electric energy measurement is carried out.

- 2. Analysis and design of the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator architecture. In this stage, the domain (continuous or discrete), integrator order, number of bits of the quantizer, loop topology and extra techniques (if necessary) are evaluated and set to attain the optimum performance for the application. Furthermore, the specifications of the analog blocks are defined such that the fabrication process variations do not affect the system performance. The architecture is validated using system level simulations with MATLAB and SIMULINK.
- 3. Design (transistor and physical level) of the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator circuit. The design of each analog block is verified considering process, supply voltage and temperature variations (PVT simulations) by using electrical simulators Spectre and SpectreRF.
- 4. Simulation results and conclusions are presented. In this stage the results are discussed and recommendations for a future work are given.

## **1.5** Structure of the Dissertation

The next chapters are organized as follows. Chapter 2 focuses on studying the existing architectures used to implement a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator. It is also defined the appropriate architecture to accomplish the requirements. Chapter 3 shows the architectural design of the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator. Using a system level model, the architecture is validated using MATLAB and SIMULINK. The requirements of the analog blocks are determined based on the system level results. Chapter 4 presents the design of the analog circuits and the listed the transistor dimensions of each block. Chapter 5 depicts the relevant simulations and results that validate the functionality of the analog blocks and the modulator. Finally, Chapter 6 presents the concluding remarks.

## Chapter 2

## Sigma-Delta Modulator

In the present chapter, the fundamentals and architectures of the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator are studied. At first, the fundamentals of the ADC are reviewed including the basic structures of a Nyquist-rate ADC, oversampled ADC and noise-shaping ADC. Also, the useful performance metrics to characterize the modulator response are listed and defined. In order to introduce the basics of sigma-delta modulation, a brief historical reviewed and the plot of the output response of a first-order single-bit modulator are provided.

The next section describes the possible modulator architectures in: loop filter order, loop topology, domain and quantizer. The objective is to reduce the alternatives for implementing a sigma-delta modulator by organizing the design-space of the architecture in those categories. There is an emphasis on the single-loop single-bit architectures since the requirements settled in Chapter 1 specify only a resolution of 16 bits with a narrow band at low frequencies. Therefore, the study of high-order loop filters (above third-order) or cascade structures escapes from the focus of this dissertation. The fundamentals aspects of the following review are based on [2],[3],[4][5], [6] and [7].

Finally, the advantages and disadvantages of the architectures are contrasted to choose the most appropriate architecture for the application considered in this thesis. Also, some works that demand similar requirements are shown to compare the performance of the designed sigma-delta designed with the previously implemented modulators.

## 2.1 Fundamentals

The ADCs transform analog signals to digital domain using basically two blocks: a sampler and a quantizer. An anti-aliasing filter (AAF) is usually placed before the sampler since it removes the components outside the bandwidth and thereby avoids the fold-over of the signal replicas that appear after the sampling process. Despite the fact that it is an essential block of the converters, its function is not considered as part of the conversion process. Figure 2.1 illustrates the conversion process in a Nyquist-rate converter and shows that the analog input signal  $x_a(t)$  passes through the AAF, which limits the frequency components into a range between  $-\frac{f_s}{2}$  to  $\frac{f_s}{2}$ . The signal is not affected and only the undesirable components are attenuated. After the signal conditioning, the AAF output  $x_b(t)$  is sampled at a frequency  $f_s$  by the sampler obtaining a discrete-time signal  $x_s(n) = x_b(nT_s)$ , where  $T_s = 1/f_s$  and n is an integer number from 0 to the total number of samples. The second stage of the conversion process is done by the quantizer. It maps the continuous values of the sample data onto a finite number of discrete levels (M bits are equivalent to  $k = 2^M$ levels). This process introduces an error called quantization error ( $\epsilon_Q$ ) that is often referred as the quantization noise of the ADC. Its average power is considered as white noise and is given by the following expression:

$$v_{n,q}^2 = \frac{\Delta^2}{12},$$
 (2.1)

where

$$\Delta = \frac{V_{FS}}{k},\tag{2.2}$$

and  $V_{FS}$  is the full-scale of the quantizer.



Figure 2.1: Block diagram of a Nyquist-rate ADC.

#### 2.1.1 Performance Metrics

There are many metrics that characterize an ADC as shown in [2],[7], [8]. Some of them are also valid to measure the performance of a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator, specially the ones that analyze the output spectrum. The most useful metrics to characterize a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator are presented below. The first two are spectral metrics which are based on the analysis of the output spectrum directly. They are illustrated in Fig. 2.2. The remain metrics are obtained by analyzing many output spectra for a determined input power (an example is shown in Fig. 2.3). Usually the input signal used to measure the modulator is a sine wave.



Figure 2.2: Typical spectrum of a modulator output.

#### 2.1.1.1 Total harmonic distortion (THD)

It is given by the ratio between the sum of the powers of the harmonic components inside the signal bandwith and the power of the fundamental component.

#### 2.1.1.2 Spurious free dynamic range (SFDR)

It is defined as the ratio between the signal power and the strongest harmonic component power.

#### 2.1.1.3 Signal-to-noise ratio (SNR)

It is the ratio between the signal power and the noise power. In the case when the noise is only quantization noise, it is called signal-to-quantization-noise ratio (SQNR).

#### 2.1.1.4 Signal-to-(noise+distortion) ratio (SNDR)

This parameter is also known as SINAD, and is defined as the ratio between the signal power and the sum of powers of the harmonics components inside the signal bandwidth plus the noise power.

#### 2.1.1.5 Dynamic range (DR)

It is the power of the input signal at which the SNR (or the SINAD) is 0 dB. It can be interpreted as the power of the sinusoidal input that stimulate an output signal at the input frequency with power equal to the noise power.

#### 2.1.1.6 Effective number of bits (ENOB)

This metric is the equivalent in number of bits of the SNR or SNDR. It is given by:

$$ENOB = \frac{SNR - 1.76}{6.02},$$
 (2.3)

#### 2.1.1.7 Overload level $(X_{OL})$

It is the maximum amplitude of the input signal for which the system still operates correctly.



Figure 2.3: Example of plot of SNR vs. Input power.

#### 2.1.2 Oversampling

From the Nyquist theorem, it is known that the minimum frequency (called Nyquist frequency  $f_N$ ) to sample a signal with bandwidth  $f_b$  is  $2f_b$ . Hence, the oversampling ratio (OSR) quantifies by how much the sampling frequency  $(f_s)$  is greater than the Nyquist frequency:

$$OSR = \frac{f_s}{f_N} = \frac{f_s}{2f_b}.$$
(2.4)

As mentioned in Chapter 1, when an ADC operates with an OSR greater than one, it is called an oversampling ADC (see Fig. 2.4). This architecture adds a decimator to the process conversion to filter the oversampling data and reduces the sampling frequency by the same value as the OSR.



Figure 2.4: Block diagram of an oversampling ADC.

An advantage about using oversampling ADCs is that the specifications of the AAF are relaxed because the signal bandwidth is smaller than  $f_s/2$  and hence the images of the signal are more separated than in a Nyquist-rate converter (see Fig. 2.5(a)). Furthermore, the quantization noise power is reduced since only a fraction of the total noise affects the signal (see Fig. 2.5(b)).





(b) Quantization Noise Power

Figure 2.5: Advantages of the oversampling ADC.

#### **2.1.3** $\Sigma\Delta$ Modulation

The oversampling idea was initially conceived to improve the transmission of the pulse code modulation (PCM). It consists on transmitting the sample changes at high sampling rate instead the actual samples. The idea was based on the operation of the human brain, whereby the physiological signals are transmitted to the brain by a series of electrical pulses in the nerve system. Figure 2.6(a) shows a block diagram where if the ADC is a 1-bit quantizer, the structure is called delta modulator and if it is a multi-bit quantizer, it is called as differential PCM. The basic operation consists of comparing the input signal with an estimate of the output data and quantizing this error. The feedback signal is obtained by integrating the DAC output which is the analog estimation of the digital output. This structure is advantageous for oversampling signals since the amplitude of the difference signal is much smaller than that of the input signal.



(a) Delta Modulator



(b) Sigma-Delta Modulator

Figure 2.6: Delta and Sigma-Delta Modulators.

The first patent of delta modulation was done by ITT laboratories in France in 1946 [9][10]. Later, in 1952, the concept was published by Jager as a method of PCM transmission[11]. In 1960, Cutler from Bell Laboratories patented an early description of using feedback to improved the resolution of a converter [12]. This was the first publication about the application of this technique in converters but the integrator still remained in the feedback path. It was not until 1962 that H. Inose et al. [13] proposed to move the integrator from the feedback loop to the forward loop (see Fig. 2.6(b)). The relocation of the integrator changes the transfer function from high-pass to low-pass, thereby obtaining an unchanged replica of the

analog input at the output. Furthermore, the quantization noise of the ADC is attenuated as much as the integrator gain (known as **noise shaping**). The name of  $\Sigma\Delta$  comes from the operation of the modulator, that is the integration (sigma) of the difference (delta).

### 2.1.4 Oversampling Noise-Shaping ADC

The techniques of oversampling and noise-shaping (by employing a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator) lead to attain high resolution converters using a low resolution quantizer. This is achieved by reducing as much as possible the quantization noise located in the signal bandwidth and by using a decimator. The scheme of the oversampling noise-shaping converter (also know as  $\Sigma\Delta$  converter) is depicted in Fig. 2.7.



Figure 2.7: Block diagram of a  $\Sigma\Delta$  ADC.

### **2.1.5** First Order $\Sigma\Delta$ Modulator

Since the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator is the key of the converter operation, a basic modulator is analyzed to understand its operation. Assuming that the loop filter is a discretetime(DT) forward-Euler integrator,

$$H(z) = \frac{z^{-1}}{1 - z^{-1}},\tag{2.5}$$

the linear model of a first order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator can be represented by the block diagram shown in Fig. 2.8 whose output is:



Figure 2.8: Linear model of Fig. 2.6(b).

$$Y(z) = (X(z) - Y(z))\frac{z^{-1}}{1 - z^{-1}} + \epsilon_Q$$
(2.6)

which leads to

$$Y(z) = X(z)z^{-1} + \epsilon_Q \left(1 - z^{-1}\right) = STF(z)X(z) + NTF(z)\epsilon_Q, \qquad (2.7)$$

where STF and NTF are the signal transfer function and noise transfer function, respectively. From these expressions it is clear that the input is replicated at the output only delayed by one clock period and the quantization noise is shaped by a high-pass filter. A metric to quantify how much the quantization noise interferes in the signal bandwidth is the SQNR. Thus, in order to obtain the total noise power inside the signal band, the product of the quantization noise PSD and the square of the absolute value of the NTF is integrated from 0 to  $f_b$  as

$$V_{n,Q}^{2} = S_{n,Q} \int_{0}^{f_{b}} \left| NTF \right|^{2} df, \qquad (2.8)$$

where the quantization noise PSD is given by

$$S_{n,Q} = \frac{v_{n,Q}^2}{f_s/2}.$$
 (2.9)

Using the definition  $z = e^{j\omega T}$ , we can express the noise transfer function can be expressed in the frequency domain as

$$NTF = 2je^{\omega T/2}sin(\omega T/2) \tag{2.10}$$

Solving the integral and using the approximation  $sin(x) \approx x$  (valid for  $\omega_b T/2 \ll \pi/2$ ), are find the noise power inside the signal band:

$$V_{n,Q}^2 = S_{n,Q} \int_0^{f_b} 4\sin^2(\pi fT) df \approx S_{n,Q} \frac{4\pi^2}{3} f_b^3 T^2$$
(2.11)

Replacing Eqs. (2.1) and (2.9) in (2.11), the  $V_{n,Q}^2$  is rewritten as:

$$V_{n,Q}^2 = v_{n,Q}^2 \frac{\pi^3}{3} \left(\frac{f_b}{f_s/2}\right)^3 = v_{n,Q}^2 \frac{\pi^2}{3} OSR^{-3}$$
(2.12)

In addition, assuming that the ADC has the same number of bits as the DAC, which is M, and recalling that the quantization interval is expressed by Eq. (2.2), the quantization power noise is written as:

$$v_{n,Q}^2 = \frac{V_{FS}^2}{k^2 12} \tag{2.13}$$

which leads to:

$$V_{n,Q}^2 = \frac{V_{FS}^2 \pi^2}{36k^2} OSR^{-3}.$$
 (2.14)

Therefore, considering a single-tone with amplitude  $A_{sin} = V_{FS}/2$  as input signal, the SQNR is expressed as:

$$SQNR_{\Sigma\Delta,1} = \frac{12}{8}k^2\frac{3}{\pi^2}OSR^3$$
 (2.15)

which in dB becomes:

aour

$$SQNR_{\Sigma\Delta,1}|_{dB} = 6.02M + 1.78 - 5.17 + 9.03log_2(OSR).$$
(2.16)

Figure 2.9: Ideal SQNR as a function of the normalized input power.

It can be noticed that for every doubling the OSR, the ENOB of the modulator output improves 1.2-bit, and adding one bit to the quantizer for a fixed OSR, the ENOB increases by 1 bit. Also, the SQNR depends on the input signal power (see Fig 2.9). As the input power increases, the SQNR increases, as well, since the quantization noise power is constant. This relationship is expressed as:

$$SQNR_{\Sigma\Delta,1} = \frac{A_{sin}^2}{V_{FS^2}} \frac{12}{2} k^2 \frac{3}{\pi^2} OSR^3.$$
 (2.17)

In order to show the basic operation of a single-bit first-order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator, a simulation was performed using  $f_s = 1MHz$ , a OSR = 256, N = 65536 samples, an ADC output voltage $(V_{ADC})$  of 1V, a DAC reference voltage $(V_{REF})$  of 1V and an input sine signal with amplitude of  $0.9V_{REF}$ . Figure 2.10(a) depicts the time response of the modulator, where the codification of the output signal can be observed. The output pulses are negative when the input signal is positive and, as the input increases, the time between each pulse decreases. Similar behavior occurs when the input signal is negative, but in this case the pulses are positive. The PSD of the output signal is illustrated in Fig. 2.10(b) and it can be observed that the





Figure 2.10: (a) Input and output signal of a first-order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator; (b)PSD of the output signal.

## 2.2 Architectures

Since publication of the paper of H. Inose [13] many changes in the architecture of the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator were proposed to improve its performance. These architecture changes can be classified in four categories: domain, integrator order, loop topology and the number of bits of the quantizer. An illustration of the large variety of proposed architectures is shown in Fig. 2.11.

#### 2.2.1 Integrator Order

The expression of the SQNR for a first-order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator (see Eq. 2.16) indicates that the ENOB only increases by 1.2-bit for every doubling of the OSR. This implies that when higher resolutions are required, a large OSR value must be used. A drawback of this scenario is that as the OSR increases, the correlation between the input signal and the quantization error becomes stronger, causing a coloration of the



Figure 2.11: Design-space of a modulator architecture.

white noise and the presence of idle tones(called as pattern noise) inside the signal band[14]. As a consequence, the linear model is no longer accurate and the SQNR does not rise as in Eq. 2.16.

Therefore, an alternative to improve the SQNR is to replace the quantizer of a first-order single-loop  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator by another modulator, as illustrated in Fig. 2.12(a). The resulting structure is a second-order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator (see Fig. 2.12(b)). In a first inspection it can be observed that the quantization error is filtered twice, and consequently it is expected that the attenuation is greater than when using only one integrator. By continuing the substitution of quantizers by modulators until we have L integrators in the forward path, the resulting topology becomes an  $L^{th}$ -order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator, as shown in Fig. 2.12(c). The NTF of this topology is given by:

$$NTF = \frac{(1-z^{-1})^L}{D(z)},$$
(2.18)

where D(z) is the denominator of both the NTF and STF, which results from the multiple feedback paths in the structure. This polynomial introduces poles and zeros to the system, and their locations depend on the integrator and feedback coefficients( $a_i$  and  $b_i$ , respectively). One of the functions of the coefficients is to guarantee the stability of the modulator (additional details about the coefficients are given in the topology subsection). Therefore, although not common, the following analysis considers D(z) = 1 since this assumption is valid for the purpose of illustrating the effect of the filter order in the topology and assure stability. Extending the analysis of the first-order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator, the total quantization noise power inside the signal band of a  $L^{th}$ -order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator is determined by[2]:







(b)



Figure 2.12: (a) First-order, (b) second-order and (c)  $L^{th}$ -order  $\Sigma\Delta$  Modulators.

$$V_{n,Q}^2 = v_{n,Q}^2 \frac{\pi^{2L}}{2L+1} \left(\frac{f_b}{f_s/2}\right)^{2L+1} = v_{n,Q}^2 \frac{\pi^{2L}}{2L+1} \cdot OSR^{-(2L+1)}$$
(2.19)

which leads to

$$V_{n,Q}^2 = \frac{V_{ref}^2}{12k^2} \left(\frac{\pi^{2L}}{2L+1}\right) \cdot OSR^{-(2L+1)}.$$
(2.20)

Thus, the SQNR is

$$SQNR_{\Sigma\Delta,L} = \frac{12}{8}k^2 \left(\frac{2L+1}{\pi^{2L}}\right) OSR^{2L+1}$$
 (2.21)

or, expressed in dB,

$$SQNR_{\Sigma\Delta,1}|_{dB} = (1.78 + 6.02M) - 10log\left(\frac{\pi^{2L}}{2L+1}\right) + 3.01(2L+1) \cdot log_2(OSR).$$
(2.22)

From the above expression, it can be observed that there is a fixed penalty for using a determined filter order in the modulator. It is represented by the loss of  $10log\left(\frac{\pi^{2L}}{2L+1}\right)$  in SQNR. Moreover, the SQNR increases at a higher rate when a high filter order is used. For instance, for every doubling the OSR value, the SQNR rises 15.05dB, 21.07dB, 27.9dB and 33.11dB for a loop filter of second, third, fourth and fifth orders, respectively. Figure 2.13(a) shows the plots of the SQNR and ENOB in terms of the OSR for a single-loop  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator with different filter orders using a 1-bit quantizer. It can be observed that for resolutions greater than 20 bits, it is necessary to use a filter order greater than 2. When high resolution is required, a fourth or third order loop filter is sufficient to reach the specifications; but when the signal band is wide, the use of high OSR values is prohibited since it requires highfrequency amplifiers, which consumes too much power. Therefore, the commonly solution applied is the use of higher order filters and low OSR.



Figure 2.13: Ideal SQNR and ENOB vs. OSR for different filter orders.

The main disadvantage of using high order filters is the instability of the system. The first and second order single-loop  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulators are easy to stabilize but as the order increases, the guarantee of stability becomes less evident. Even when the stability is assured by using criteria of linear feedback networks, the system may be
unstable since there is a quantizer in the loop. This block turns the system into a non-linear one specially when it has low resolution[2].

#### 2.2.2 Topologies

There are two common alternatives to implement a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator: a single-loop or a cascade architecture. The former refers to the use of only one quantizer (it is also called single-stage or single-quantizer). The latter, also called MASH (multi-stage noise-shaping)  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulators, is an alternative to implement high order modulators without stability problems. The principle of operation is depicted in Fig. 2.14(a). It can be observed that the structure consists of low-order single-loop modulators in series to form a high-order modulator[6]. Each modulator modulates the quantization error generated in the previous stage and the outputs are processed by a DSP using a digital cancellation logic (a typical implementation is shown in 2.14(b)) and thereby only remains the last quantization error shaped by all the modulators. There are many advantages and disadvantages of this architecture but are not detailed in the present document since escape from the main focus of the dissertation.



Figure 2.14: (a) Generic MASH architecture and (b) Typical implementation of the cancellation of quantization error in the DSP.

The single-loop topology is commonly used to implement first-order, secondorder or even third-order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulators. Higher orders were also implemented in the literature but at the cost of complexity to assure the stability of the system. The common single-loop architectures can be classified as feedback, feedforward and hybrid topologies. Also, the inclusion of local feedback loops is often employed to enhance the modulator performance.

#### 2.2.2.1 Distributed feedback

This is the most common single-loop topology and is usually called as single-loop. Figure 2.12(c) illustrates the distributed feedback topology for any filter order. The coefficients in the forward path are called integrator scalings or weights and are used to limit the output dynamic range of the integrator. For instance, if the voltage swing at the integrator output ranges from -2 to 2, it can be reduced to -1 to 1 using 0.5 as integrator coefficient. The main feedback ensures that the quantized output tracks the input. The other feedback coefficients are used to adjust the transfer function. It is important to note that the coefficient values must accomplish the stability conditions of the system. The STF and NTF of a  $L^{th}$ -order distributed feedback topology are given by

$$STF = \frac{H^{N}(z)\Pi_{i=1}^{N}a_{i}}{1 + \sum_{i=1}^{N}b_{i}H^{N+1-i}(z)\Pi_{k=i}^{N}a_{k}}$$
(2.23)

and

$$NTF = \frac{1}{1 + \sum_{i=1}^{N} b_i H^{N+1-i}(z) \prod_{k=i}^{N} a_k}$$
(2.24)

The major disadvantage of this topology is that the first integrator output contains an amount of the input amplitude. Hence, it requires significant swing capabilities to avoid saturation. Furthermore, when the output swing requirement exceeds the allowable voltage for a given technology (commonly in the newer technologies), the use of small coefficients is the only solution. One consequences is that bigger area is required to maintain the same capacitor noise and thereby more power is needed to charge this capacitor. Even if small coefficient values are chosen, the modulator doesn't operate correctly for input signals with amplitudes whose values are near that the reference voltage.

#### 2.2.2.2 Feed-forward

The so called **feed-forward summation** topology is illustrated in Fig. 2.15. In this case, there is a main feedback and the coefficients are in the feed-forward paths. Each integrator output has a weight, and these outputs are added at the quantizer input. The STF and NTF of the topology are given by:

$$STF = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} c_i H^i(z)}{1 + b_1 \sum_{i=1}^{N} c_i H^i(z)}$$
(2.25)

$$NTF = \frac{1}{1 + b_1 \sum_{i=1}^{N} c_i H^i(z)}$$
(2.26)

For a desirable NTF, the STF is defined, which could cause problems when an optimized NTF is not an appropriate STF[4]. The major advantage of this topology is that the first integrator output does not contain significant part of the input signal. Nonetheless, it still carries an amount of the input amplitude. Thus only this one must have a considerable output swing. It is worth mentioning that the SNR peak of this topology is greater than the distributed feedback but it still saturates for input amplitudes near  $V_{REF}$ .



Figure 2.15:  $L^{th}$ -order feed-forward summation topology.

In a discrete-time implementation, the integrator has an inherent weight that is equal to 1 when its capacitors are equal but could assume other values if distinct capacitors are used. Therefore, the above topology assumes its generic form by adding coefficients to the integrators and implementing a direct injection of the input signal to the quantizier[15]. The resulting topology is illustrated in Fig. 2.16 and is called **full-feedforward**[5]. It keeps the same NTF as those of feed-forward or feedback topologies but relaxes the integrator requirements since only quantization error is processed by the integrators. In this case,

$$STF = \frac{c_0 + \sum_{i=1}^N c_i H^i(z) \prod_{k=1}^i a_k}{1 + b_1 \sum_{i=1}^N c_i H^i(z) \prod_{k=1}^i a_k}$$
(2.27)

$$NTF = \frac{1}{1 + b_1 \sum_{i=1}^{N} c_i H^i(z) \prod_{k=1}^{i} a_k}.$$
(2.28)

The coefficient  $b_1$  only represents the gain of the STF and NTF and does not have influence on the SQNR. However it does affect the location of the poles and zeros of the system. The influence of the coefficient  $c_0$  is only noted when the quantizer employs more than one bit (this is detailed in the next chapter). Therefore, with  $c_0 = 1$  and  $b_1 = 1$ , the STF and NTF are given by:

$$STF = 1 \tag{2.29}$$

$$NTF = \frac{1}{1 + \sum_{i=1}^{N} c_i H^i(z) \prod_{k=1}^{i} a_k}.$$
(2.30)

It is important to note that for any value of  $b_1$ , the STF and NTF at low frequencies still maintain the above expressions. Therefore, it can be seen that this topology allows the optimization of NTF without modifying the STF.



Figure 2.16:  $L^{th}$ -order fully feed-forward topology.

The main advantage is that the integrators only process the quantization noise, thereby relaxing the requirement of output swing. Also, the SNR peak is greater than the presented above and it could be obtained with an amplitude of 90% of the  $V_{REF}$ .

#### 2.2.2.3 Hybrids

Figure 2.17 illustrates the combination of weighted feedback and distributed feedforward in a modulator. The major advantages of using feed-forward is not exploited in this topology since the distributed feed-forward injects the input signal at each integrator input. Moreover, alike the classic distributed feedback topology, the STF and NTF are somewhat independent and thereby can be optimized separately.

The cost of using feedback coefficients is greater than that of using feed-forward coefficients. The feedback coefficients are usually implemented with active circuits that consume static power and, in contrast, the feedforward coefficients are usually implemented with pasive circuits when a 1-bit quantizer is employed.

#### 2.2.2.4 Local Feedback Loops

A common characteristic among the above topologies is that the zeros of the NTF are located at DC. As a consequence, the quantization noise is attenuated at low



Figure 2.17:  $L^{th}$ -order hybrid topology.

frequencies but quickly increases next the bandwidth. By adding local feedback loops between two integrators (see Fig. 2.18) in the forward path of the modulator, the zeros are spread over the bandwidth to optimize the frequency response. This type of topology is usually employed in high-order modulators and wide-band applications.



Figure 2.18: Local feedback loop.

#### 2.2.3 Domain

In Fig. 2.7, it is depicted a discrete-time  $\Sigma\Delta$  Modulator (DT- $\Sigma\Delta$ M) where the loop filter H(z) is an analog discrete-time filter. An alternative implementation can be achieve using a continuous-time filter (H(s)), as is shown in Fig.2.19. Here, the input signal can be applied directly to the modulator without preceding an AAF since the continuous-time  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator (CT- $\Sigma\Delta$ M) has an implicit AAF in the structure[14]. The sampling operation is carried out before the quantizer, which represents the major advantage of the structure since all the errors generated by the non-idealities of the sampling process are attenuated by the NTF.

Another important difference between both implementations is that in a DT- $\Sigma\Delta M$ , the loop filter is realized using switched-capacitor(SC) circuits (see Fig. 2.20(a)) while in a CT- $\Sigma\Delta M$ , it can be implemented using a (passive or active) RC-filter, an OTA-C filter or an LC resonator(an example is shown in Fig. 2.20(b)). In the former, the frequency response of the amplifier limits the maximum clock



Figure 2.19: Continuous-time  $\Sigma \Delta$  ADC.

frequency since the accuracy depends on the complete charge transfer and this commonly requires a small fraction of the clock period. Otherwise, the latter deals with analog signals at the input filter, thus relaxing the frequency specifications of the amplifier because the signal bandwidth is smaller than the clock frequency. Another concern about the filter implementation is the behavior of the virtual ground node. Although the DT- $\Sigma\Delta$ M presents large glitches at its virtual ground, this is not relevant as it only matters the final settled value. In contrast, the virtual ground in a continuous time implementation must remain constant so that the linearity of the integration operation is not affected[7].



Figure 2.20: (a)SC integrator, (b)OTA-C integrator and (c), (d)their respective linear models.

From figures 2.20(c) and 2.20(d), it can be observed that the linear model of the integrators has a gain which for the SC circuit is

$$a = \frac{C_s}{C_i} \tag{2.31}$$

and, for OTA-C integrator

$$a = \frac{Gm}{C}.$$
(2.32)

When the integrators are used to implement a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator, they are called coefficients and play an important roll in both the performance and stability of the modulator. In a SC implementation, the gain is determined by the ratio between two capacitors, and thus the variation of the coefficients due to fabrication process defects is relative small. By contrast, the coefficient implemented by the continuous-time integrator depends on the absolute values of Gm and C, which may cause substantial performance degradation or system instability.

Furthermore, note that the output in a continuous-time  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator is digital, and must be transformed (by using a DAC) to the analog domain to feed the filter. Therefore the DAC in a CT implementation is a critical block and its performance has a big impact in the behavior of the modulator[14].

#### 2.2.4 Quantizer

It is known that the ADC error is attenuated by the NTF, but this doesn't happen with the DAC errors, which are injected with the input signal. Consequently the linearity of the modulator has a strong dependency on the DAC linearity. In the case of a single-bit modulator, there is no linearity problem since the input-output characteristic of the DAC is inherently linear. The issue is that using only a 1-bit quantizer is not enough when high SNR values are required. This problem can be solved by using a higher filter order or increasing the OSR. However, as mentioned above, a higher filter order has stability problems since the 1-bit quantizer. This turns the system into non-linear and thereby the linear models are not accurate. For the same reason, at high OSR values appears idle tones in the output spectrum. In addition, the white noise model for the quantization noise is not verified when using low resolution quantizers[2].

Another option to increase the resolution of the modulator is to use a multi-bit DAC. This enhances by 6db the SNR for every bit added (see Eq. 2.22). It also makes the system more linear and therefore the theory of linear networks is more accurate to predict the system behavior, and the quantization noise fits better in the white noise approximation. It is worth mentioning that the linearity of the modulator response is different from the linearity of the system. The first one refers specifically to the integral non-linearity (INL) error of the DAC, which is the maximum deviation of the actual output from the ideal output; the second one concerns the accuracy with which a linear model represents a real system. Note that in order to not degrade the  $\Sigma\Delta$  converter performance, the accuracy of the DAC should at least as good as that of the system. Hence, for DAC resolutions greater than one, its INL must be less than 1LSB to preserve the response linearity [2]. This is not easy to accomplish in standard technologies, and thus an extra circuit is needed such as trimming or dynamic matching (more information in this issue can be found in [4]).

An advantage of using a single-bit modulator is that it is implemented with only a comparator as a quantizer and two reference voltages ( $V_{REF}$  and  $-V_{REF}$ ) in the DAC. However, since single-bit modulators usually employ large OSR values, the amplifier requires a bandwidth that is three or four times the sampling frequency, which increases power consumption. As a contrast, the use of multilevel quantization improves the equivalent number of bits, but consumes additional power because of the extra circuits. Moreover, since a multi-bit architecture uses a smaller OSR, the specification of the bandwidth of the amplifiers can be relaxed. It can be noted that there is a trade-off between the number of bits and the power consumption of the circuit for a given signal bandwidth. In conclusion, single-bit architectures are a suitable solutions for low power application, and multi-bit architectures are more adequate for high-frequency and wide-band applications.

## 2.3 Architecture Selection

Since the modulator requirements specify a SNR greater than 96dB, a discrete-time second-order single-bit single-loop full feed-forward architecture was chosen (see Fig. 2.21). Basically a discrete-time single-bit architecture is suitable for the application since the signal bandwidth is located at low frequencies. Also, the architecture leads to an inherent linear circuit without wasting power and complexity to reach stability. In addition, the AAF does not need a high order since the system uses a high OSR.

The second and third order architectures with OSR= 256 and OSR= 128 respectively satisfy the specifications. The bias current of the additional integrator in the third order architecture could be used to reduce noise and extend the bandwidth of the integrators in a second-order modulator while achieving a slightly lower power consumption. Moreover, adding a third integrator implies to occupy more area for the switches and the capacitors. Also, the second-order architecture is more stable, which translates to fewer stability constrains for the integrators coefficients selection thereby facilitating the optimization of their output dynamic range. Consequently, the second-order architecture was chosen since one of the objectives of this dissertation is to optimize the system.

Finally, the full feed-forward topology was chosen since it offers the greater  $SNR_{peak}$  among other topologies for input amplitudes near  $V_{REF}$ . It is important to note that the values of the coefficients  $b_1$  and  $b_2$  in a distributed feedback topol-



Figure 2.21:  $2^{nd}$ -order fully feed-forward topology.

ogy are defined by the ratio between the output voltage levels of the DAC and the ADC. For instance, if the ADC output levels are  $-V_{ADC}$  and  $V_{ADC}$  and the DAC reference voltage is  $V_{REF}$ , the value of the coefficient is given by  $V_{ref}/V_{ADC}$ . When the modulator has differential operation it uses two symmetrical reference voltages  $(V_{REFP} \text{ and } V_{REFN})$  around the common-mode  $(V_{cm} = V_{DDA}/2)$ . Therefore, in order to avoid using extra reference circuits (that increase area, power consumption and circuit complexity) to implement the feedback coefficients, the full feed-forward is the best option. To conclude, the specifications of the modulator are listed in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1: Modulator Specifications

Parameters	Value
$SNR_{peak}$	> 96 dB
BW	40-1.9KHz
OSR	256
$f_s$	1MHz
$V_{DD}$	1.8V
Order	2
Loop Topology	Full feed-forward
Domain	$\mathrm{DT}$
ADC levels	2

## 2.4 Related Works

In the literature there are many implementations of a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator in low-medium frequencies, specially for audio and bio-potential applications. Neither have similar requirements (except ENG signals) to the present application. As a contrast, in the field of electric energy measurement, it was reported only one paper [16].

Table 2.2 shows relevant works about circuit implementations of a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator

Ref.	$\mathbf{V_{DD}}$ [V]	<b>BW</b> [KHz]	OSR	<b>f</b> s [MHz]	SNDR [dB]	Pow. $[\mu W]$	$FOM_1$ [ $pJ/step$ ]	$FOM_2$ [dB]	<b>ENOB</b> bit
[17]	1.2	10	128	2.560	87.8	148	0.37	166.1	14.3
[17]	1.2 1.6	2	80	0.320	64	96	18.53	137.2	14.3 10.3
[10]	1.8	10	64	1.280	95	210	0.23	171.8	10.5 15.5
[10]	0.8	10	40	0.800	82	48	0.23	165.2	13.3
[16]	1.2	10	128	3.584	99	316	$0.25 \\ 0.15$	105.2 175.5	16.2
[21]	0.8	10	$120 \\ 128$	2.560	80.3	54	$0.10 \\ 0.32$	163.0	13.0
[21]	$0.0 \\ 0.9$	0.5	250	0.250	76	2.1	0.32 0.41	159.8	12.3
[22]	0.25	10	200 70	1.400	61	7.5	0.41	159.0 152.2	9.8
[20] [24]	1.5	10	128	0.256	93	1350	18.49	152.2 151.7	15.2
[24]	1.5	1	64	0.128	89.8	20	0.40	166.8	14.6
[26]	1.8	1	16	0.032	80	20 9	$0.40 \\ 0.55$	160.5	13.0
[20] [27]	2.5	1	128	0.052 0.256	93.2	2380	31.85	149.4	15.0 15.2
[21] [28]	1.8	10	250	5.000	85.8	33	0.10	170.6	14.0
[20]	1.0	8	40	1.048	92	$\frac{35}{38}$	$0.10 \\ 0.07$	175.2	14.0 15.0
[30]	1	$\frac{0}{2}$	64	0.256	60	5	1.53	146.0	9.7
[30]	2	1	128	0.320	77	120	10.37	146.2	12.5
[32]	0.8	5	64	0.640	47.5	180	92.91	121.9	7.6
[33]	$0.0 \\ 0.9$	10	256	5.000	80.1	200	1.21	121.0 157.1	13.0
[34]	3.3	10	$250 \\ 256$	5.120	99	1630	1.12	166.9	16.2
[35]	1.8	4	125	1.000	68	400	24.36	138.0	11.0
[36]	$1.0 \\ 1.5$	3.9	$120 \\ 128$	1.000	67.1	90	6.23	143.5	10.9
[37]	0.7	8	64	1.000	67	80	2.73	147.0	10.5

Table 2.2: Related Works

that although are not related with energy measurement, have somewhat similar specifications. It was considered only recent implementations (from 2002 to 2013) with a bandwidth between 500 and 10KHz. This is important since the power consumption and the criteria to chose an specific architecture heavily depends of the signal bandwidth. The comparison is also based on both figure-of-merit (FOM) which are determined by:

$$FOM_1 = \frac{Power}{2 \cdot BW \cdot 2^{ENOB}} \quad ; \quad FOM_2 = SNDR_{peak} + 10log_{10} \cdot \left(\frac{BW}{Power}\right) \quad (2.33)$$

In Table 2.3 is detailed the technology and the architecture employed to implement the modulator. It is important to mention that each work improves the modulator response using techniques at circuit-level. The architectures in most of cases are based in the well-known theory. The abbreviations in the architecture field in Table 2.3 refer to the domain, the order of the loop filter, the number of levels of the ADC and the loop topology.

Ref.	Tech. $[\mu m]$	Architecture	Year
[17]	0.13	DT-20-5ADC-DFB	2013
[18]	0.15	CT-30-2ADC-FFF	2013
[19]	0.18	SC-20-17ADC-FFF	2012
[20]	0.13	DT-20-17ADC-FFF	2012
[16]	0.13	DT-20-2ADC-FFF	2012
[21]	0.18	DT-30-2ADC-FFS-LFL	2012
[22]	0.065	DT-20-2ADC-DFB	2012
[23]	0.13	DT-30-2ADC-FFF	2011
[24]	0.18	DT-30-2ADC-FFF	2011
[25]	0.35	DT-40-2ADC-FFS-LFL	2010
[26]	0.35	DT-50-17ADC-FFF	2010
[27]	0.18	DT-30-2ADC-FFS-LFL	2010
[28]	0.18	DT-20-2ADC-HYB	2010
[29]	0.13	DT-30-2ADC-FFF	2009
[30]	0.35	CT-20-2ADC-DFB	2007
[31]	0.35	DT-20-2ADC-DFB	2007
[32]	0.18	DT-20-2ADC-DFB	2006
[33]	0.18	DT-20-2ADC-DFB	2006
[34]	0.18	DT-20-2ADC-DFB	2005
[35]	0.18	DT-20-2ADC-DFB	2005
[36]	0.35	DT-20-2ADC-DFB	2004
[37]	0.18	DT-20-2ADC-DFB	2002

Table 2.3: Related Works (cont)

# Chapter 3

# System Level Design

The present chapter focuses on the design and definition of the parameters of the blocks of the architecture, which are the DAC, the coefficients and the integrators. Since the DAC is a simple block, the relevant parameter at this design-level is its voltage reference. It is worth noting that this value determines the output swing of the signal at the first integrator and sets the feedback coefficient value. The values of the remaining four coefficients were obtained simulating the ideal model of the modulator for every combination of coefficients, seeking the maximum values of SNR at a given input amplitude. The optimal coefficient values were the ones that provided maximum SNR and occupied the lowest area. Finally, the non-idealities of the first integrator, which is the major source of errors in a single-bit architecture, were characterized and specified in order to not degrade the system performance. The simulations were done using Simulink models based on [1].

## 3.1 Simulink Models

In order to predict the system level behavior and help in the design procedure, three Simulink models were elaborated: ideal, noiseless non-ideal and noisy non-ideal. The former consists of ideal integrators, coefficients and an ideal quantizer (see Fig. 3.1). Despite the fact that this is an ideal model, the saturation voltage of the integrator was set at the standard supply voltage of the technology ( $V_{DD} = 1.8V$ ) to assure that the output of each integrator does not exceed the maximum allowed voltage. This restriction is the key of the model since it reduces the combinations of coefficients that attain the SNR specified for a given input amplitude. Thus, the model was basically used to iterate the coefficients until the desired response was reached. On the other hand, the output spectrum helps to estimate an accurate quantization noise power in the signal band, since the hand-calculation values are not accurate due to the 1-bit quantizer.

A second model (shown in Fig. 3.2) was elaborated including the non-ideal



Figure 3.1: Ideal Simulink model of full feed-forward second-order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator.

integrator developed in [1]. The Simulink block models the GBW, the DC gain, the slew-rate and the saturation voltage of the amplifier (that is part of the integrator), and thereby predicts their effects on the modulator response. The results are used to verify that the specifications of the amplifier do not degrade the SNR of the ideal modulator.



Figure 3.2: Non-ideal Simulink model of full feed-forward second-order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator.

Another important parameter to take into account is the noise generated by the switching network (kT/C) and the devices (basically the amplifier). Thus, the functions developed in [1] are added to the non-ideal model to elaborate the noisy non-ideal model (see Fig. 3.3). It includes the main noise sources and adds two more inputs which are the first sampling capacitor value and the input root-mean-square (RMS) noise voltage of the amplifier. The capacitor value is used to calculate the power spectral density (PSD) of the switching network and the RMS noise voltage, to calculate the contribution of the amplifier in the total noise power at the output.

Using a circuit simulator is not suitable for a first estimation of noise in  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulators because it takes long simulation time due to the fact that it is a nonlinear mixed-signal circuit. Thus, this model was used to predict the final response of the



Figure 3.3: Noisy non-ideal Simulink model of full feed-forward second-order  $\Sigma\Delta$  Modulator.

modulator in less time than a transistor-based model.

## 3.2 DAC Reference Voltage

The 1-bit DAC is the simplest DAC and provides an inherent linearity to the modulator. It consists of two reference voltages ( $V_{REF}$  and  $-V_{REF}$ ) that switch between them depending on the input. In the modulator, the value  $V_{REF}$  defines the feedback coefficient (as mentioned in the previous chapter). It also has a big impact on the output dynamic range of the first integrator since the DAC output is subtracted from the input signal and the result is applied to the integrator.



Figure 3.4: Effect of the DAC in the output dynamic range of the first integrator.

Figure 3.4 illustrates the voltage levels at the first integrator. It is observed that the DAC output is subtracted from the input sine with amplitude  $\beta V_{REF}$ . Thus, the voltage range of the difference (also called as error) is the sum of both  $(\beta V_{REF} + V_{REF})$  since there is the case in which one reach its maximum while the other attains its minimum. Note that the input amplitude is a fraction of the  $V_{REF}$ and it is represented by the factor  $\beta$ . The error is scaled by the coefficient and processed by the integrator, thereby obtaining a signal that ranges from  $-a_1(\beta + 1)V_{REF}$  to  $a_1(\beta + 1)V_{REF}$  at the integrator output. Therefore, assuming that the output dynamic range of the integrator is  $2\alpha V_{DD}$ , the reference voltage is limited to:

$$V_{REF} < \frac{\alpha V_{DD}}{(\beta + 1)a_1} \tag{3.1}$$

Typically, for classical topologies of amplifiers in the present technology (AMS018), the value of  $\alpha$  is greater than 0.9. Also, it is known that the coefficient of the first integrator is always less than one. Thus it is assumed that its maximum value is 0.8. The factor  $\beta$  defines the input range of the modulator and it was arbitrarily set to 0.9 to operate in a wide input range. Replacing these values in the Eq. (3.1), the maximum  $V_{REF}$  allowed by the technology is 1.07V. Therefore, in order to accomplish this condition, the  $V_{REF}$  was set to 1V. Consequently the feedback coefficient was set to  $b_1 = 0.56$ .

### **3.3** Modulator Coefficients

In Chapter 2 it was defined that a discrete-time single-bit second-order  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator with full feed-forward topology (see Fig. 3.5) is able to achieve the application requirements. Note that the value of  $c_0$  (see Fig. 2.16) was arbitrarily set to unity for two reasons. The first is that the STF at low frequencies is equal to 1 when  $c_0 = 1$ . Another is that since 1-bit ADC is used as a quantizer, the relevant information is the signal sign and not the amplitude. This means that the information that provides one coefficient is redundant and thereby it can be set to any value. The feed-forward coefficients and the adder are implemented by a passive circuit that uses one coefficient as reference[5]. Therefore, the STF and NTF of the modulator are given by:

$$STF = \frac{z^{-2} (a_1 a_2 c_2 - a_1 c_1 + 1) + z^{-1} (a_1 c_1 - 2) + 1}{z^{-2} (a_1 a_2 b_1 c_2 - a_1 b_1 c_1 + 1) + z^{-1} (a_1 b_1 c_1 - 2) + 1},$$
(3.2)

$$NTF = \frac{(1-z^{-1})^2}{z^{-2} (a_1 a_2 b_1 c_2 - a_1 b_1 c_1 + 1) + z^{-1} (a_1 b_1 c_1 - 2) + 1}$$
(3.3)

where the stability condition of the system is

$$a_2 \frac{c_2}{c_1} < 1. \tag{3.4}$$



Figure 3.5: Discrete time  $2^{nd}$  order full feed-forward  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator.

#### 3.3.1 SNR Optimization

According to the top-bottom design flow shown in Chapter 1, the architecture was optimized by exploring the design space  $(a_1, a_2, c_1 \text{ and } c_2)$ . The goal was to find the SNR maxima for a specific input amplitude which is  $A_{in} = 0.9V_{REF}$ . With this purpose, the ideal model was simulated for every combination of the coefficients. The coefficients  $a_1$  and  $a_2$  were varied from 0.1 to 0.9 with steps of 0.1, and  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  were varied from 0.5 to 2.5 with steps of 0.25. The compilation of the maximum values of SNR are listed in Table 3.1, which also shows the absolute value of the swing voltage at the first $(int_{out,1})$  and second $(int_{out,1})$  integrator outputs.

$a_1$	$a_2$	$c_1$	$c_2$	$int_{out,1}$	$int_{out,2}$	SNR	ENOB	$\gamma$
0.6	0.2	0.5	1	0.9	0.9	104.7	17.09	5.42
0.3	0.4	1	1	0.5	0.9	104.7	17.09	6.71
0.7	0.4	1	1	1	1.4	105.1	17.17	4.80
0.3	0.2	1	2	0.45	0.45	104.7	17.09	7.83
0.7	0.2	1	2	1	0.8	105.1	17.17	5.93
0.2	0.6	1.5	1	0.3	0.9	104.7	17.09	8.42
0.2	0.4	1.5	1.5	0.3	0.6	104.7	17.09	8.88
0.2	0.3	1.5	2	0.3	0.45	104.7	17.09	9.33
0.5	0.5	0.75	0.5	0.75	1.6	104.2	17.02	4.88
0.4	0.6	0.75	0.5	0.6	1.7	104.2	17.01	5.29
0.4	0.3	0.75	1	0.6	0.8	104.7	17.09	5.96
0.4	0.2	0.75	1.5	0.6	0.6	104.7	17.09	6.63
0.5	0.2	0.75	1.25	0.7	0.6	104.2	17.02	6.00
0.3	0.9	1.25	0.5	0.4	1.6	104.4	17.04	6.24
0.3	0.3	1.25	1.5	0.4	0.6	104.4	17.04	7.29
0.3	0.2	1.25	2.25	0.4	0.4	104.4	17.04	8.08
0.4	0.7	1.75	1	0.6	1.5	105.1	17.17	5.98
0.4	0.4	1.75	1.75	0.6	0.8	105.1	17.17	6.63
0.4	0.3	1.75	2.25	0.6	0.6	104.5	17.07	7.08
0.2	0.8	2.25	1	0.3	0.8	104.2	17.02	8.69
0.2	0.4	2.25	2	0.3	0.4	104.2	17.02	9.50

Table 3.1: SNR maximums

The coefficients  $a_1$  and  $a_2$  are implemented as the ratios of two capacitances:  $C_{s1}/C_{i1}$  and  $C_{s2}/C_{i2}$ , respectively. On the other hand, the feed-forward coefficients in single-bit architectures are defined by the value of a single capacitor. For instance, if the capacitor that implements  $c_0 = 1$  is  $C_{f0}$ , the value of  $C_{f1}$  and  $C_{f2}$  are  $c_1C_{f0}$ and  $c_2C_{f0}$ , respectively. Thus it can be noticed that the total capacitance of the circuit depends of the coefficients, and it is given by:

$$C_{tot} = C_f (1 + c_1 + c_2) + C_{s1} \left(\frac{a_1 + 1}{a_1}\right) + C_{s2} \left(\frac{a_2 + 1}{a_2}\right)$$
(3.5)

Typically the capacitances  $C_{s2}$  and  $C_{f0}$  are smaller than  $C_{s1}$ . Hence, it is arbitrarily assumed that  $C_{s2} = 0.25C_{s1}$  and  $C_{f0} = 0.5C_{s1}$ . Considering these assumptions, the expression of  $C_{tot}$  can be rewritten as:

$$C_{tot} = C_{s1} \left( \frac{a_1 + 1}{a_1} + \frac{a_2 + 1}{4a_2} + \frac{1 + c_1 + c_2}{2} \right) = \gamma C_{s1}$$
(3.6)

where  $\gamma$  is the factor that indicates the effect on the coefficient values in the total capacitance area. The minimum value of  $\gamma$  in Table 3.1 represents a solution for minimum area and maximum SNR. Therefore, based on data in Table 3.1, the selected coefficients were:  $a_1 = 0.7, a_2 = 0.4, c_1 = 1, c_2 = 1$ .

The simulation of the ideal model and the following simulations in this dissertation were done using the parameters listed in table 3.2 unless otherwise indicated. The reference voltage  $(V_{REF})$  and the ADC output voltage  $(V_{ADC})$  are the output voltage levels of the DAC and ADC respectively (see Fig. 3.5). The parameters  $A_{in}$ and  $f_{sin}$  are the characteristics of the input sine of the modulator. It is important to note that the input frequency is proportionally to the frequency resolution $(f_s/N)$ and near to 1.8KHz ( the last frequency component of the electrical signal).

Parameter	Symbol	Value
Boltzmann's constant	k	$1.381 \times 10^{-23} J/K$
Temperature	T	300K
Number of samples	N	65536
Reference Voltage	$V_{REF}$	1V
Switching Frequency	$f_s$	1MHz
ADC output voltage	$V_{ADC}$	1.8V
Input amplitude	$A_{in}$	$0.9V_{ref}$
Input Frequency	$f_{sin}$	$117 \frac{f_s}{N}$
Information bandwidth	Bw	$\frac{f_s/2}{OSR}$
Oversampling ratio	OSR	256

 Table 3.2:
 Simulation
 Parameters

#### 3.3.2 Ideal Modulator Response

The bode plots of the STF and NTF are shown in Fig. 3.6. The STF plot indicates its DC Gain  $(STF_{DC})$  which is 5.106*dB* and is determined by the inverse of the feedback coefficient  $(1/b_1 = V_{ADC}/V_{REF} = 1.8)$ . As expected, the NTF has a secondorder high-pass filter response (see Fig. 3.6(b)) which attenuates the quantization noise of the 1-bit ADC at low frequencies. Moreover the NTF only attenuates the quantization noise rather than other noise sources such as the kT/C or the amplifier noise.



Figure 3.6: Frequency responses of the  $\Sigma\Delta$  Modulator.



Figure 3.7: PSD of the output signal.

The PSD of the output signal is shown in Fig. 3.7. It indicates that the normalized signal power is -8.7dB and the SQNR is 105.1dB. Knowing these values and using the denormalized signal power (1.18dB), we can compute the mean square voltage of the quantization noise  $(\bar{v}_{n,q}^2)$  using the following equation:

$$\bar{v}_{n,q}^2 = \bar{v}_{sig}^2 - SQNR = -103.92dB, \qquad (3.7)$$

which is equivalent to:

$$\bar{v}_{n,q}^2 = 40.55pV^2. \tag{3.8}$$

Since the minimum ENOB requirement of the modulator is 16 bits, which is equivalent to a minimum SNR (SNR<sub>min</sub>) of 98.08dB, the maximum allowable noise power in the modulator (considering all the noise sources) is restricted to the following value:

$$\bar{v}_{n,out}^2 = \bar{v}_{sig}^2 - SNR_{min} = -96.9dB,$$
 (3.9)

which is equivalent to:

$$\bar{v}_{n,out}^2 = 204.17 p V^2.$$
 (3.10)

From these values, it can be observed that the quantization noise is equivalent to 20% of the maximum noise allowable by the system. Indeed, this percentage cannot be reduced since it is inherent of the modulator loop. Hence, other noise sources such as the switching network and the amplifier must not surpass the remaining 80%.



Figure 3.8: Histogram of the integrators outputs.

The histograms of the integrator outputs are shown in Fig. 3.8. It can be

observed that the output voltage of the first integrator swings from -1 to 1 and of the second integrator goes from -1.4 to 1.4. Both are in the range of a typical amplifier response which means that special circuit techniques are not needed.



Figure 3.9: SQNR as a function of the input power.

Figure 3.9 shows the behavior of the SQNR with the input power. As expected, the plot attains its maximum for amplitudes near to  $0.9V_{REF}$ . The circles represent the values obtained from simulations and the solid line is a linear approximation of the data.

# 3.4 Non-ideal Integrator

The amplifier non-idealities such as finite DC gain  $(A_{DC})$ , slew-rate (SR), gainbandwidth product (GBW) and saturation voltage  $(V_{SAT})$  are the causes of the incomplete transfer of charge in a switched-capacitor integrator (see Fig. 3.10). Moreover, the noise of the integrator is the major cause of the SNR degradation in the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator. It is important to note that the first four non-idealities can be specified considering the preservation of the ideal response of the circuit. On the other hand, the noise sources cannot be avoided, and hence have a big impact on the SNR of the system. Those effects were analyzed and modeled in [4],[1],[38] and [39].

#### 3.4.1 Finite DC Gain

The transfer function of an ideal switched-capacitor integrator is given by the following expression:



Figure 3.10: Non-idealities of a discrete-time integrator.

$$H(z) = b \frac{z^{-1}}{1 - z^{-1}}.$$
(3.11)

It can be observed that besides the implementation of the forward-Euler integrator, the circuit also implements a coefficient which is represented by b. The DC gain of the amplifier affects both, the coefficient and the frequency response. Thus, in order to model this effect, a factor  $\alpha = 1 - b/A_{DC}$  is introduced and the transfer function is rewritten as:

$$H(z) = b\alpha \frac{z^{-1}}{1 - \alpha z^{-1}}.$$
(3.12)

If the maximum allowable error due to the DC gain of the amplifier is 0.1%, then the value of  $b/A_{DC}$  (part of the factor  $\alpha$ ) is limited to the following condition:

$$\frac{b}{A_{DC}} < 0.001,$$
 (3.13)

which restricts  $A_{DC}$  to

$$A_{DC} > 56.9dB.$$
 (3.14)

In [38], this effect was modeled using Simulink blocks in which the frequency response was separated from the integrator coefficient. The factor  $\alpha$  was modeled as a leakage in the frequency response and the effect of the DC gain in the coefficient was introduced in the slew-rate and GBW model (see Figure 3.11).

#### 3.4.2 Slew-Rate and Gain-Bandwidth Product

The settling-time of the integrator is affected by the SR and GBW of the amplifier. The former is the maximum rate of change of the output voltage for a linear response, and the latter determines the time constant ( $\tau$ ) of the amplifier [40]. The effects of



Figure 3.11: Non-ideal integrator developed in [1].

these parameters in a  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator were analyzed in [38] and more extensively in [39].

Considering that  $V_s = V_{in}(nT - T/2)$  is the sampling voltage stored in  $C_s$  when  $\phi_1$  was on, the expression of the integrator output in  $\phi_2^{-1}$  is given by:

$$v_{out}(t) = v_{out}(nT - T) + b\alpha V_s\left(1 - e^{-\frac{t}{\tau}}\right), 0 < t < \frac{T_s}{2},\tag{3.15}$$

where  $\tau$  is determined by  $1/(2\pi GBW)$ . It is important to mention that the GBW is not the same for both clock phases. It depends on the effective load capacitance at each phase. The maximum slope of the output voltage occurs at t = 0 and is shown in the following equation:

$$\left. \frac{dv_{out}(t)}{dt} \right|_{max} = b\alpha \frac{V_s}{\tau}.$$
(3.16)

This expression represents the minimum slew-rate required by the amplifier to attain a linear output response. In the case that the amplifier has a slew-rate lower than Eq. (3.16), the settling-time is only affected by the GBW. Otherwise, the amplifier is in slewing and the time response is influenced by this non-linear effect. If the maximum permissible settling-time is arbitrarily set to 5% of the clock period, then the maximum settling time is given by:

$$t_{set,max} = \frac{0.05}{f_s} = 50nsec.$$
 (3.17)

Consequently, the GBW is conditioned to:

$$GBW > 3.2MHz. \tag{3.18}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>between  $nT_s - T_s/2$  and  $nT_s$ 



Figure 3.12:  $SR_{min}(a)$  and  $\tau(b)$  vs. GBW.

Figure 3.12(a) shows the minimum GBW required for different settling-times. It is worth mentioning that a larger GBW is equivalent to a higher power consumption. Also, in Fig. 3.12(b), it can be observed that the minimum SR increases proportionally to the GBW. Depending on the equivalent output capacitance of the amplifier, reaching a high SR value may require a considerable power consumption. Therefore, the parameters must be keep as small as possible such that the SNR of the modulator is preserved and the power consumption is not wasted.

It is known that the amplifier response is affected by variations of the fabrication process, temperature and supply voltage variations. This means that the GBW has a nominal, a minimum and a maximum value. Thus, considering a maximum GBWof 5MHz, the SR is conditioned to:

$$SR > 21MV/sec. \tag{3.19}$$

#### 3.4.3 Saturation Voltage

The minimum output swing of the first and second integrators can be deduced from Fig. 3.8, wherein the output voltage is lower than 1.2V and 1.6V, respectively. As mentioned above, this was modeled in [38] using a Simulink saturation block (see Fig. 3.11). It is worth mentioning that when the output voltage is closer to the limits, the response is distorted.

#### 3.4.4 Noise

The Simulink model of the noisy integrator developed in [1] was used to simulate the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator at this design stage. It considers the capacitor and amplifier noise

assuming ideal switches (see Fig. 3.13). The inputs of the model are the values of the capacitor and the RMS noise voltage of the amplifier integrated in the signal band. Thus, the following analysis was done according to these entries.



Figure 3.13: Noisy integrator developed in [1].

The sum of the quantization noise and the noise contribution of the integrator is limited to the following condition:

$$\overline{v_{n,tot_{max}}^2} > \overline{v_{n,out,int}^2} + \overline{v_{n,q}^2}.$$
(3.20)

which entails that the output power noise of the modulator due to the first integrator is restricted to:

$$164pV^2 > \overline{v_{n,out,int}^2}.$$
(3.21)

As it mentioned above, the switch noise was not considered at this level stage, and therefore the output power noise of the integrator is composed only by the following noise sources:

$$\overline{v_{n,out,int}^2} = \overline{v_{n,out,c}^2} + \overline{v_{n,out,op}^2},$$
(3.22)

where  $\overline{v_{n,out,c}^2}$  and  $\overline{v_{n,out,op}^2}$  are the integrated power noise of the switching network and the amplifier, respectively. The former is the integral (from 0 to  $\frac{f_s/2}{OSR}$ ) of the product of the capacitor noise PSD ( $S_{n,in,c}$ ) and the square of the transfer function from the first integrator input towards the modulator output ( $NTF_{i1}$ ) divided by the Nyquist frequency. The expression is shown in the following equation[4]:

$$\overline{v_{n,out,c}^2} = \frac{1}{f_s/2} \int_0^{\frac{f_s/2}{OSR}} S_{n,in,c} \left| NTF_{i1} \right|^2 df$$
(3.23)

where  $S_{n,in,c}$  is determined by  $kT/C_{s1}$  and  $NTF_{i1}$  is given by:

$$NTF_{i1} = \frac{0.7z^{-1} \left(1 - 0.6z^{-1}\right)}{0.767z^{-2} - 1.61z^{-1} + 1}.$$
(3.24)

Using Eqs. (3.24) in (3.23) and solving the integral, the following relation is obtained:

$$\overline{v_{n,out,c}^2} = 12.4 \times 10^{-3} S_{n,in,c}.$$
(3.25)

The second component of the integrator noise is the integrated noise at the output of the modulator due to the amplifier. Since the input of the noisy integrator model is a RMS noise voltage and the  $NTF_{i1}$  is almost constant at low frequencies  $(1/b_1)$ , the integrated output power noise due the amplifier can be expressed as:

$$\overline{v_{n,out,op}^2} = |NTF_{i1}|^2 \overline{v_{n,in,op}^2} = \frac{1}{b^2} \overline{v_{n,in,op}^2}.$$
(3.26)

Therefore, the RMS input noise voltage is given by the square root of the noise power as shown in the following equation:





Figure 3.14: Maximum RMS noise voltage vs. minimum capacitor value.

The maximum allowable RMS noise voltage of the amplifier to achieve a SNR of 98.08dB depends on the sampling capacitor value and the temperature<sup>2</sup> (see Fig. 3.14). As expected for the highest temperature, the noise specification of the amplifier becomes tighter especially for capacitor values below 1pF. This typically implies higher power consumption and larger transistors. Therefore, a capacitor value of 1.5pF is selected since it keeps the noise specification of the amplifier below  $6\mu V_{rms}$  even at the maximum temperature. Only 95% of  $164pV^2$  was considered as integrator noise power since the remaining 5% was attributed to fabrication process variations (which increase the amplifier noise), and external noise sources.

 $<sup>^2\</sup>mathrm{It}$  was considered a range of temperature of an industrial application from  $-40^\circ\mathrm{C}$  to  $85^\circ\mathrm{C}.$ 

#### 3.4.5 Specification of the Analog Blocks

Table 3.3 summarizes the requirements of the amplifiers of the first and second integrators. It also shows the values used in the noise-less and noisy Simulink models.

Parameter	Condition INT1	Condition INT2	Simulink INT1
$A_{DC}$	$> 56.9 \mathrm{dB}$	> 52.04 dB	80dB
GBW	$> 3.2 \mathrm{MHz}$	$> 3.2 \mathrm{MHz}$	$5 \mathrm{MHz}$
SR	$> 21 \mathrm{MV}/sec$	$> 14.7 \mathrm{MV}/sec$	$30 \mathrm{MV}/sec$
$V_{sat}$	> 1.2V	> 1.6V	1.6V
$v_{n,in,op}^{rms}$	$< 6\mu V_{rms}$	-	$6\mu V_{rms}$

 Table 3.3: Amplifier Requirements

#### 3.4.6 Noiseless Non-ideal Model Simulation

The noiseless non-ideal simulink model was simulated using the values listed in Table 3.3. The PSD of the output signal is shown in Fig. 3.15. It should be noted that there is not a significant difference between the ideal and the real-noiseless response. The SNR of the noiseless model differs from the ideal by only 0.6dB. The histogram of each integrator output is not presented since it has the same response as the one of the ideal model. This is an expected response because the non-ideal parameters of the amplifier were chosen such that the ideal response of the modulator would not be affected.



Figure 3.15: PSD of the output signal using the real-noiseless model.

#### 3.4.7 Noisy Non-ideal Model Simulation

The noisy non-ideal model of the modulator was simulated using the values listed in Table 3.3. Furthermore, the inputs of the noisy integrator were  $C_{s1} = 1.5pF$  and  $v_{n,in,op}^{rms} = 6\mu V_{rms}$ . The PSD of the output signal is shown in Fig. 3.16 where the SNR and ENOB values are given. As can be noted, the results agree with the theoretical analysis, and the main objective was achieved which is to reach an ENOB of 16 bits.



Figure 3.16: PSD of the output signal using a noisy non-ideal model.

The histogram of each integrator output is shown in Fig. 3.17, where it can be observed that the voltage ranges remains equal to that of the ideal model.



Figure 3.17: Histogram of the integrators output for noisy non-ideal simulation.

Finally, Fig. 3.18 shows the behavior of the SNR with of the input power. It can be observed that the modulator only achieves a SNR greater than 98.08dB for

values near to  $0.9V_{REF}$ . Thus, the PGA that preceded the  $\Sigma\Delta$  ADC is unavoidable since it conditioned the input signal amplitude.



Figure 3.18: SNR as a function on the input power.

# Chapter 4

# Circuit Design

The present Chapter describes the analog circuits used in the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator for the AMS technology 018  $\mu$ m with six metal layers. The standard voltage supply was  $V_{DD} = 1.8V$ . Moreover, the design was done using standard transistors of the technology and prioritizing the power efficiency over the area. The procedure to obtain the final transistor dimensions was based on simulations, since the equations of the SPICE level 1 are not accurate.

### 4.1 Introduction to Switched-Capacitor Circuits

The key idea of the switched-capacitor (SC) circuits is placing switches and capacitors instead of resistors. Figure 4.1 shows equivalent circuits that have a current flow from node A to node B. The resistor current is given by  $I_{AB} = (V_A - V_B)/R_1$ . In the case of Fig. 4.1(b), the capacitor  $C_s$  alternates between node A and node B at a clock rate  $f_s$ . Thus, the average current is given by the charge moved in one clock period[40]:

$$\overline{I_{AB}} = \frac{C_s \left( V_A - V_B \right)}{f_s^{-1}} \tag{4.1}$$



Figure 4.1: (a) Resistor and (b) switched-capacitor resistor.

Comparing both expressions, it can be observed that the scheme of Fig. 4.1(b) emulates a resistance that is given by  $(C_s f_s)^{-1}$ . One advantage of this kind of circuits is the possibility to implement large resistances values. Note that the switches are implemented using transistors, and its non-idealities degrade the SC circuit performance.

#### 4.1.1 Channel Charge Injection

Let us consider a sampling circuit as shown in Fig. 4.2, where the switch is implemented by a single NMOS transistor. When the switch is *on*, there is a charge present in the inversion layer (called channel charge  $Q_{ch}$ ) that permits the current flow from  $V_{in}$  to the capacitor. When the signal clock  $(V_{clk})$  is down, a certain amount of the channel charge is injected to the capacitor  $C_s$  introducing an error in the input signal reading. In [40] this effect and the body effect of the NMOS switch are characterized by the following equation:

$$V_{out} = V_{in} \left( 1 + \frac{WLC_{ox}}{C_s} \right) + \gamma \frac{WLC_{ox}}{C_s} \sqrt{2\phi_B + V_{in}} - \frac{WLC_{ox}}{C_s} \left( V_{DD} - V_{TH0} + \gamma \sqrt{2\phi_B} \right).$$

$$(4.2)$$

$$V_{clk} \downarrow$$

$$V_{in} \bullet \downarrow \downarrow \downarrow$$

$$V_{out} \downarrow$$

Figure 4.2: Charge injection in a sampling circuit.

#### 4.1.2 Clock Feedthrough

The overlap capacitances  $(C_{ov})$  of the NMOS transistor form paths from the gate to the source and drain (see Fig. 4.3). Thus, the gate transitions are coupled to the output voltage introducing another error source. Assuming a constant overlap capacitance, the voltage error is given by [40]

$$\Delta V = V_{clk} \frac{WC_{ov}}{WC_{ov} + C_s}.$$
(4.3)

where W is the transistor width and  $WC_{ov}$  is the total overlap capacitance.



Figure 4.3: Clock feedthrough in a sampling circuit.

#### **4.1.3** kT/C Noise

The noise generated by the *on*-resistance of the switch is sampled in the capacitor  $C_s$  and then filtered by the RC equivalent circuit. Thus, the total noise power is obtained by integrating the power spectral density in the whole frequency range as shown in the following expression:

$$P_{n,ktc} = \int_0^\infty \frac{4kTR_{on}}{1 + (2\pi f R_{on} C_s)^2} df = \frac{kT}{C_s}.$$
(4.4)

It can be observed that the total power does not depend on the *on*-resistance of the switch. This occurs because as the PSD noise increases, the pole of the RC network decreases resulting in a total power exclusively dependent on the capacitance.

### 4.2 Integrator

The integrator shown in Fig. 4.4 is a well-known circuit for its insensitivity to the parasitic capacitances of the sampling capacitor  $(C_s)$ . When S1 and S3 are closed, the input source charges the capacitor  $C_s$  and the parasitic capacitance at node P  $(C_p)$ . The parasitic capacitance at node Q  $(C_q)$  is connected to ground and therefore does not stores any charge. When S2 and S4 are closed, the charge stored in  $C_p$  is discharged to ground and hence does not affect the charge transferred from  $C_s$  to  $C_i$ . Also, at this phase, the capacitor  $C_q$  remains connected to ground since the inputs of the amplifier are in virtual short-circuit.

The clocking scheme of the integrator is shown in Fig. 4.5. It corresponds to a non-inverting integrator with the following transfer function:

$$H(z) = \frac{C_s}{C_i} \frac{z^{-1}}{1 - z^{-1}}.$$
(4.5)

Note that  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  are the two phases of a non-overlapping clock signal. This assures the correct operation of the SC circuits. Also, it can be observed that the clock signals of the switches S1 and S2 are delayed from with respect to S3 and



Figure 4.4: Parasitic-insensitive integrator.

S4, respectively. This technique is called bottom-plate sampling and is employed to make the charge injection of S1 and S2 independent of the input signal[41]. The switch S3 is opened slightly before S1 is, so that a high impedance is sensed through  $C_s$ . Thus, the charge injection from S1 flows towards the input source. A similar principle is applied to switches S2 and S4. It is important to note that the switches S3 and S4 always operate at the same potential and consequently their charge injection is constant.



Figure 4.5: Clocking scheme of the integrator.

Therefore, in order to cancel both charge injection and clock feedthrough errors, a differential version of Fig. 4.4 was used (see Fig. 4.6). The bottom plate of the capacitors are connected to the output amplifier or to the input source since this connection reduces the effect of the substrate noise in the circuit operation[41].

The value of the sampling capacitor of the first integrator was specified to 1.5pFin Chapter 3. In a differential implementation, this value must be doubled since each path of the integrator generates an independent noise source. Thus, with the coefficient values  $a_1 = 0.7$  and  $a_2 = 0.4$ , the capacitances were calculated as listed in Table 4.1. The dimensions of the unit capacitor  $(C_u)$  are  $W = 10\mu m$  and  $L = 11\mu m$ and its capacitance is  $C_u = 0.22pF$ .



Figure 4.6: Fully differential parasitic-insensitive integrator.

Capacitor	Value	Value[pF]
$C_{s1}$	$14C_u$	3.09
$C_{s2}$	$4C_u$	0.88
$C_{i1}$	$20C_u$	4.41
$C_{i2}$	$10C_u$	2.21

Table 4.1: Integrator capacitance values

## 4.3 Switches

The common alternatives for switch implementation are: a NMOS transistor, a PMOS transistor and a transmission gate. The *on*-resistance of single-device implementations depends on the input signal, leading to time-constants that increase for more positive (NMOS) or negative (PMOS) inputs. Another drawback is that their operation is restricted to a given input swing: lower than  $V_{DD} - V_{thn}$  for a NMOS transistor and greater than  $V_{thp}$  for a PMOS transistor The transmission gate employs NMOS and PMOS transistors using a complementary signal clock as shown in Fig. 4.7. Thus, the *on*-resistance of both devices are connected in parallel, thereby compensating the effect of the input signal[40]. Another advantage of this

topology is that it allows rail-to-rail operation making it appropriate for differential implementations where the operating point of the nodes are at the common mode voltage ( $V_{CM} = V_{DD}/2$ ).



Figure 4.7: Circuit implementation of a switch.

The dimensions of the transistors of the transmission gate implemented in the modulator are listed in Table 4.2. In order to reduce charge injection and clock feedthrough effects, the transistors M1 and M2 must have minimum dimensions as Eqs. (4.2) and (4.3) indicate. Morover, the dimension of M2 must be greater than M1 as well as the ratio between the NMOS ( $\mu_n$ ) and PMOS ( $\mu_p$ ) mobility. This is a rule of thumb that makes the *on*-resistance less dependent of the input voltage. The devices M1a, M1b, M2a and M2b are dummy transistors that reduces charge injection and clock feedthrough. Typically their dimensions are half those of M1 and M2. It is important to noted that both transistors must be turned off simultaneously to avoid any distortion in the sampled value[40].

 Table 4.2: Switch transistor dimensions

Device	$\mathbf{W}$ [ $\mu m$ ]	<b>L</b> [µm]
M1	1	0.18
M1a	0.5	0.18
M1b	0.5	0.18
M2	3.2	0.18
M2a	1.6	0.18
M2b	1.6	0.18

## 4.4 Amplifier

The amplifier is the main block of the single-bit modulator. Its specifications define the performance of the integrator and hence of the whole system. An important characteristic of this analog block (in this application) is that it does not require a high voltage gain, since the modulator is not sensitive to small variations of the coefficients. Typically, a voltage gain greater than 60dB is enough to produce a good performance [2]. The major drawback is that the speed and noise strongly depend on the power consumption, which is critical in low power designs.



Figure 4.8: Folded cascode OTA.

In SC circuits, the amplifiers are often operational transconductance amplifiers (OTA) because the output signal is a current that charges the load capacitor  $(C_L)$ . There are many alternatives to implement the OTA, and these can be classified as two-stage and single-stage amplifiers. A classical two-stage amplifier is the miller configuration which commonly needs a class AB stage to enhance its speed [5], [42]. Its drawback is that the compensation capacitors inevitably end up consuming a considerable current. The most common single-stage amplifiers are the current mirror and the folded cascode topologies. The former is more appropriate for applications that require low voltage gain and operates at low voltage supply. Typically the voltage gain is around 50dB which is not desired for discrete-time modulators. Hence, extra techniques are used to improve the amplifier performance [5]. The classical folded cascode topology (see Fig. 4.8) has many advantages, such as the first pole is defined by the output capacitor, high output resistance and high voltage gain. Its main disadvantage is that the SR depends directly on the current of M10-M9. For instance, for SR of 20MV/sec and a load capacitance of 2pF, the current of M9 and M10 is

$$V_{DDA}$$

$$M9$$

$$W_{0}$$

$$I_{d10} = I_{d9} = C_L SR = 2pF \times 20MV / sec = 40\mu A$$
(4.6)

Figure 4.9: Folded cascode OTA with adaptive bias.

By replacing transistor M11 with an adaptive bias circuit[43], the folded cascode OTA improves its power efficiency and operates in class AB. The resulting topology (see Fig. 4.9) is a pseudo differential circuit where transistors M1 and M2 are a cross-coupled differential pair that are biased by two flipped voltage follower (FVF) cells[44]. Hence, for a nonzero differential input signal, the current of M5a or M6a increases, thereby allowing high SR values with a low quiescent current. Also, the current in M5a and M6a are copied to M9 and M10 respectively. The transconductance of the circuit is given by

$$Gm \approx 2gm_1$$
 (4.7)

and the GBW is determined by:

$$GBW = \frac{Gm}{2\pi C_L} \tag{4.8}$$

From the equations, it can be observed that the folded cascode OTA and its adap-
tive bias version consume the same current for a given GBW. Another important parameter of the amplifier is its equivalent input noise power. The noise power generated by the adaptive bias circuit is determined by

$$\overline{V_{n,IN}^2}\Big|_{FVF} = 2\frac{\overline{I_{n,M5a}^2} + \overline{I_{n,M1a}^2} + \overline{I_{n,M3a}^2}}{gm_{FVF}}$$
(4.9)

where  $gm_{FVF} = gm_{1a}gm_{5a}rds_{1a}$ . Furthermore, the noise power generated by the folded cascode is given by:

$$\overline{V_{n,IN}^2}\Big|_{FC} = 2\frac{\overline{I_{n,M1}^2} + \overline{I_{n,M3}^2} + \overline{I_{n,M9}^2}}{Gm}$$
(4.10)

By superposition, the input equivalent noise power is

$$\overline{V_{n,IN}^2} = \overline{V_{n,IN}^2}\Big|_{FVF} + \overline{V_{n,IN}^2}\Big|_{FC}$$
(4.11)

The equations derived above were used as a criteria to calculate the dimensions of the OTA transistors. The final values were set by simulations and are listed in Table 4.3. The design accomplished the requirements mentioned in Table 3.3 for each corner of the technology, which considers process(corner models), temperature(industrial range) and voltage( $\pm 5\% V_{DD}$ ) variation. Furthermore, the power consumption and the noise power were the main concern of the design. In order to assure the OTA stability, the minimum OTA load capacitance must be 2.5pF.

Device	$\mathbf{W}$ [ $\mu m$ ]	$\mathbf{L} \ [\mu m]$	$\mathbf{M}$	$\mathbf{W}_{tot}$ [ $\mu m$ ]
M1	10	1	10	100
M2	10	1	10	100
M3	23	1.5	15	345
M4	23	1.5	15	345
M5	10	1	20	200
M6	10	1	20	200
M7	10	1	20	200
M8	10	1	20	200
M9	4.5	1.5	5	22.5
M10	4.5	1.5	5	22.5
M1a	10	1	10	100
M2a	10	1	10	100
M3a	15	2.5	3	45
M4a	15	2.5	3	45
M5a	4.5	1.5	5	22.5
M6a	4.5	1.5	5	22.5

Table 4.3: OTA transistor dimensions

### 4.4.1 Bias Circuit

The OTA bias circuit is shown in Fig. 4.10 and the transistor dimensions are listed in Table 4.4<sup>1</sup>. Power consumption was the primary concern in the design of this circuit. The reference current has a low value of  $I_{REF} = 100nA$ , that was copied to establish the bias voltages  $V_{b1}$ ,  $V_{b2}$ ,  $V_{b3}$  and  $V_{cmfi}$ .



Figure 4.10: Bias circuit of the OTA.

Device	$\mathbf{W}$ [ $\mu m$ ]	$\mathbf{L} \ [\mu m]$	Μ	$\mathbf{W}_{tot}$ [ $\mu m$ ]	$\mathbf{I}_D \ [\mu A]$
M1	10	1	1	10	0.1
M2	10	1	1	10	0.1
M3	10	1	1	10	0.1
M4	10	1	1	10	0.1
M5	1	10	5	0.2	0.1
M6	10	1	5	50	0.5
M7	10	1	5	50	0.5
M8	23	1.5	1	23	0.5
M9	10	1	5	50	0.5
M10	10	1	5	50	0.5
M11	10	1	1	10	0.5
M12	15	2.5	1	15	0.5
M13	1	4	1	1	0.5
M14	10	1	3	30	0.5
M15	15	2.5	1	15	0.5

Table 4.4: Transistor dimensions of the OTA bias circuit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Only in the case of M5, the parameter M means a series connection as indicated in Fig. 4.10. In other cases this parameter indicates parallel connection

#### 4.4.2 Common Mode feedback block

The common mode feedback block is shown in Fig. 4.11 and the capacitance values for the first (INT1) and second (INT2) integrators are listed in Table 4.5. These values were determined by simulation such to assure the stability of the common mode. It was noted a correlation between the  $C_{c2}$  capacitor and the input noise power. As well as this capacitance increases, the input noise power decreases.



Figure 4.11: Common mode feedback block.

	INT1		INT2	
Capacitor	Value	Value [pF]	Value	Value [pF]
$C_{c1}$	$7C_u$	1.54	$3C_u$	0.66
$C_{c2}$	$5C_u$	1.10	$10C_u$	2.21

Table 4.5: CMFB capacitance values

### 4.5 Quantizer

Since the  $\Sigma\Delta$  modulator suppresses the non-idealities such as the offset of the the 1bit quantizer, the requirements of this block are relaxed and the power consumption can be optimized. A power efficient topology is shown in Fig. 4.12, which consists of a dynamic comparator and a SR latch[5]. This circuit is purely dynamic and consumes power only at the rising edge of the clock (*Clk*).

The dynamic comparator consists of transistors M1, M2, M3, M4, M5, M6, M7a(b) and M8a(b). When the signal Clk is low, transistors M3 and M4 are off and the nodes P and Q are clamped to  $V_{DD}$ . At the rising of the clock, the parasitic capacitances of the nodes P  $(C_p)$  and Q  $(C_q)$  are discharged through transistors M1



Figure 4.12: Quantizer circuit: clocked comparator and latch.

Device	$\mathbf{W}$ [ $\mu m$ ]	$\mathbf{L}$ [ $\mu m$ ]	$\mathbf{M}$	$\mathbf{W}_{tot}$ [ $\mu m$ ]
M1	1	1	1	1
M2	1	1	1	1
M3	0.5	0.18	1	0.5
M4	0.5	0.18	1	0.5
M5	0.5	0.18	1	0.5
M6	0.5	0.18	1	0.5
M7a	0.5	0.18	2	1
M7b	0.5	0.18	2	1
M8a	0.5	0.18	2	1
M8b	0.5	0.18	2	1
M9	0.5	0.18	1	0.5
M10	0.5	0.18	1	0.5
M11	0.5	0.18	1	0.5
M12	0.5	0.18	1	0.5
M13a	0.5	0.18	2	1
M13b	0.5	0.18	2	1
M14a	0.5	0.18	2	1
M14b	0.5	0.18	2	1

Table 4.6: Transistor dimensions of 1-bit quantizer

and M2 at the rate of its drain value. For instance, if  $V_{in+}$  is greater than  $V_{in-}$ , the drain of M2 is greater and the parisitic capacitance  $C_q$  discharges faster than  $C_p$ . The crosscoupled inverter (M5, M7b, M8b and M6) regenerates the signal and the values at node P and Q are set to ground and  $V_{DD}$ , respectively. These values are

stored in the latch (M9, M10, M11, M12, M13a, M13b, M14a, M14b) until the next rising clock.

Note that the circuit has a purely digital behavior with exception of transistors M1 and M2 that amplify the input signal. Hence, the devices that operate as a switch have minimum dimensions. Transistors M1 and M2 have a larger length  $(L=1\mu m)$  to avoid mismatch effects in the comparison operation. Table 4.6 lists the complete transistor dimensions.

## 4.6 DAC

The 1-bit DAC is a simple circuit that consist of two switches controlled by one digital signal as shown in Fig. 4.13. When the input assumes logic value '1', the output is connected to the reference voltage; otherwise the output is connected to ground. In a differential implementation, the reference voltage must be centered at the analog ground  $(V_{CM})$ . Hence, two reference voltages (see Table 4.7) that are symmetric with respect to  $V_{CM}$  must be implemented such that the difference between the two is  $V_{REF}$ .



Figure 4.13: 1-bit DAC.

Table 4.7: DAC reference voltages

Reference Voltage	Value [V]
$V_{REFH}$	1.4
$V_{REFL}$	0.4

# 4.7 Feed-forward Coefficients

The circuit shown in Fig. 4.14 shows the switched-capacitor implementation of the feed-forward coefficients and the adder. The output is [5]

$$V_{out} = \frac{\sum_{j=0}^{2} V_{Ij} C_{fj}}{\sum_{j=0}^{2} C_{fj}}$$
(4.12)

where  $C_{fj}$  is the capacitance of the j-th feed-forward path. The output can be written in terms of a unitary capacitance  $(C_u)$  as

$$V_{out} = \frac{\sum_{j=0}^{2} V_{Ij} c_j C_u}{\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j C_u} = \frac{\sum_{j=0}^{2} V_{Ij} c_j}{\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j}$$
(4.13)



Figure 4.14: Feed-forward circuit.

Therefore, the output voltage is the sum of the inputs weighted by the feedforward coefficients but attenuated by a constant value that is the sum of all the coefficients. Since the modulator is a single bit architecture, the only relevant information is in the sign and hence the attenuation does not affect the modulator operation. Table 4.8 lists the capacitance values.

## 4.8 Non-overlapping clock

The clock generator is shown in Fig. 4.15. It is a classical two-phase non-overlapping circuit. The dead-time between  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  is the sum of  $t_{d1}$  and  $t_{d2}$ . The logic gates

Capacitor	Value	Value $[pF]$
$C_{f0}$	$6C_u$	1.32
$C_{f1}$	$6C_u$	1.32
$C_{f2}$	$6C_u$	1.32

Table 4.8: Capacitance values of the feed-forward circuit

were implemented using minimum dimensions (L= $0.18\mu m$  and W= $0.5\mu m$ ) and the widths of the PMOS devices are 3-fold those of the NMOS ones.



Figure 4.15: Non-overlapping clock generation.

Since the switches are transmission gates, each phase needs a complementary signal for proper operation. Hence, the circuit shown in 4.16 was placed at each phase of the non-overlapping clock ( $\phi_1$ ,  $\phi_2$ ,  $\phi_{1d}$  and  $\phi_{2d}$ ) to generate its complementary signal ( $\overline{\phi_1}$ ,  $\overline{\phi_2}$ ,  $\overline{\phi_{1d}}$  and  $\overline{\phi_2 d}$ ). The dummy devices (NMOS and PMOS) have the same dimensions as those of the transistors of the inverter since they duplicate the delay of the inverter cell[40].



Figure 4.16: Generation of the complementary signals for the switches.

## 4.9 Modulator

The entire modulator circuit is shown in Fig. 4.17.



Figure 4.17: Circuit implementation of the entire modulator.

# Chapter 5

# Simulations and Results

The analog blocks were simulated using the simulators spectre and spectreRF from CADENCE. In case of transient analysis, the simulator APS (Advanced Parallel Simulator) was used since it accelerates the simulation time.

The operation of the modulator and the functionality of the analog blocks were validated using three types of simulations: Nominal, Process-Voltage-Temperature (PVT) and Monte Carlo. The former consists on classical simulation of the typical transistor model at room temperature and standard voltage supply. The PVT simulations are the combinations of the corner models of the process: maximum, nominal and minimum temperature; and maximum, nominal and minimum voltage supply. The latter consists on performing many simulations based on the statistical model of the transistor. The design kit provides the corner models of the transistor, which are worst to zero (wz), worst to one(wo), worst power(wp) and worst speed(ws). The range of temperatures are according to the industrial standard (-40° to 85°) and the maximum allowable variation of  $V_{DD}$  was 5%.

## 5.1 Quantizer

The quantizer was simulated using three entries:  $V_{in+}$ ,  $V_{in-}$  and  $V_{clk}$  (see Fig. 5.1(a)). The positive and negative input voltages are signals that vary from ground to  $V_{DD}$ and from  $V_{DD}$  to ground, respectively. The output is only updated at the rising edge of the clock ( $V_{clk}$ ), as shown in Fig. 5.1(b) where it can be observed that the typical responses at 27°C and 40°C do not have a significant variation. Also, in Fig. 5.1(b) is depicted the output voltage for every combination of the corner models and temperature( $-40^{\circ}$ C, 27°C, 40°C and 85°C). The simulation regarding the corner model wz at 85°C was the only one that presents a slight difference (see the thickest curve in 5.1(b)). Nevertheless, this does not compromise the modulator operation. Monte Carlo simulations were not performed since the offset of the comparator is canceled out by the system loop.



Figure 5.1: Input/Output signals of the quantizer.

# 5.2 Non-overlapping clock

The output signals are shown in Fig. 5.2. The dead-time is about 1 *nsec* between  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  and 500 *psec* between  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_{2d}$ . It is important to note that the inherent behavior of this circuit assures that the delays are always present even when experiencing mismatch effects and process variations.



Figure 5.2: Clock phases.

# 5.3 OTA

The results of the simulation of this analog block are based on the requirements set in Table 3.3. The frequency, noise and time response were validated with PVT and Monte Carlo simulations.

#### 5.3.1 Nominal simulation

The frequency response of the OTA is shown in Fig. 5.3. It can be observed that the OTA possesses a high DC gain ( $A_{DC} = 90.29$ dB), a unity gain frequency (UGF) of 6.8MHz and a phase margin of 54.59°. The GBW of this circuit (7.8MHz) is a little larger than the UGF since this circuit is not an ideal one-pole system. Additionally, the power consumption including the bias circuit was around  $30\mu W$ .



Figure 5.3: Nominal frequency response of the OTA.

The PSD of the equivalent input noise is shown in Fig. 5.4. It can be noted that in the signal-band, the flicker noise is larger than the thermal component, as expected. The equivalent RMS input noise voltage was around  $4V_{rms}$ , and the contribution of the flicker noise is 94% of the total value. As expected, the transistors M3, M4, M9 and M10 are the ones that generate more noise, that is almost 60% of the total noise. Furthermore, the differential pair (M1 and M2) and transistor M3a and M4a (from the adaptive bias circuit) contribute with 18% and 16%, respectively.



Figure 5.4: Nominal PSD of the equivalent input noise of the OTA.

The step response of the amplifier is depicted in Fig. 5.5. The maximum and minimum output voltages are almost  $V_{DD}$  and  $-V_{DD}$  since the transistors M3, M4, M9 and M10 operates at weak inversion. The settling time of the circuit is in close agreement with the GBW shown above, because the large signal response takes into account other effects of the amplifier. However, this settling time value is not critical since the output attains its steady value within the integration time (500*nsec*).



Figure 5.5: Step response.

The main results of the nominal simulations are summarize in Table 5.1. It can be observed that the circuit reaches the requirements set in Chapter 3. The

exception is the settling time which, as mentioned above, is not a critical value.

Specification	Values
GBW	7.8 MHz
DC Gain	$90.29~\mathrm{dB}$
Phase Margin	$54.59^{\circ}$
<b>RMS</b> input noise voltage	$4.46\mu V_{RMS}$
Power	$30.4 \mu W$
Positive SR	$31.8 \mathrm{MV/sec}$
$\mathbf{Negative} \ \mathbf{SR}$	$31.7 \mathrm{MV/sec}$
Settling time	242nsec
Maximum output voltage	$V_{DD}$ -45.7mV
Minimum output voltage	$-(V_{DD}-46\text{mV})$

Table 5.1: Nominal results of the OTA

#### 5.3.2 PVT simulation

Table 5.2 summarizes the maximum and minimum values of the OTA parameters considering PVT variations. It can be seen that the results satisfy the requirements of the amplifier.

Specification	Mininum		Ma	ximum
	Corner	Value	Corner	Value
GBW	Corner 1	$5.75 \mathrm{~MHz}$	Corner 2	12.1 MHz
Phase Margin	Corner 2	$40.02^{\circ}$	Corner 3	$66.84^{\circ}$
<b>RMS</b> input noise voltage	Corner 4	$3.72 \mu V_{RMS}$	Corner 1	$5.81 \mu V_{RMS}$
Power	Corner 5	$26.8 \ \mu W$	Corner 1	$68.6 \mu W$
Positive SR	Corner 6	25.5  MV/sec	Corner 7	$39.1 \ \mathrm{MV/sec}$
Settling time	Corner 8	216  nsec	Corner 9	267nsec

Table 5.2: PVT results of the OTA

The most critical environment is the called **corner 1** where the amplifier attains minimum GBW and maximum RMS input noise voltage. However, the RMS input noise voltage is lower than the maximum allowed value to reach the specified SNR, and the GBW value is higher than the minimum required to assure a complete charge transfer. Furthermore, this environment presents the worst power consumption which is more than twice that of the nominal value. The environment of **corner 2** achieves the minimum phase margin. Nevertheless, a phase margin of  $40^{\circ}$  still assures the stability of the amplifier. In case of **corner 9**, the settling time is slightly greater than half of the integration time. This can be critical since it affects directly the integrator charge transfer. Table 5.3 lists the conditions of the environments mentioned in Table 5.2.

Corners	Transistor Model	Temperature	Supply Voltage
Corner 1	wp	$85^{\circ}$	1.89 V
Corner 2	wo	-40°	1.89 V
Corner 3	wo	$85^{\circ}$	1.89 V
Corner 4	wp	-40°	1.89 V
Corner 5	ws	-40°	$1.71 { m V}$
Corner 6	wo	$85^{\circ}$	$1.71 \ V$
Corner 7	wz	-40°	1.89 V
Corner 8	wp	-40°	1.89 V
Corner 9	ws	$85^{\circ}$	1.71 V

Table 5.3: Corners of the OTA

Figure 5.6 illustrates the plots of the best and worst frequency responses. The lowest value of UGF (3.5MHz) occurs in **corner 1** but it still satisfies the requirement of Table 3.3.



Figure 5.6: Corner simulations of the OTA frequency response.

The PSD of the input noise is depicted in Fig. 5.7. It can be observed that

for the conditions of **corner 1**, the noise has a significant increment. However, the input noise RMS voltage still remains lower than  $6\mu V_{RMS}$  which is the limit to assure 16 bits.



Figure 5.7: Corner simulations of the PSD of the OTA equivalent input noise.

Figure 5.8 illustrates the step response of the OTA for the most critical conditions of the transient parameters. The output for the simulations of **corner 8** has maximum and minimum values greater than the rails, which can cause device degradation. Nevertheless, as predicted by the system-level simulations, the output of the first integrator ranges between -1.4 V to 1.4 V.



Figure 5.8: Corner simulations of the OTA step response.

#### 5.3.3 Montecarlo Simulations

Monte Carlo simulations were performed for 500 samples at 27°C. The histograms of the main parameters of the OTA are shown in Fig. 5.9.



Figure 5.9: Histograms of the GBW, DC gain, phase margin, input noise RMS voltage, power and SR.

Figure 5.10 illustrates the histograms of the upper headroom voltage and settling

time values. It is worth mentioning that the histogram of lower headroom voltage values is equal to that of the upper voltage headroom.



Figure 5.10: Histograms of the upper headroom voltage and settling time.

The main results of the Monte Carlo simulations are summarized in Table 5.4. The most critical parameters are the input noise RMS voltage and the power consumption. The former only assures that 95% ( $2\sigma$ ) of the samples accomplished the specification set in Table 3.3. The latter has a strong sensitivity to mismatch and process variations effects, which may lead a power consumption of  $50\mu W$  at maximum current (considering  $2\sigma$ ).

Parameter	Mean	$\sigma$	$3\sigma$
GBW	$7.82 \mathrm{~MHz}$	$0.6 \mathrm{~MHz}$	1.8MHz
DC Gain	$90.14~\mathrm{dB}$	$0.92 \ \mathrm{dB}$	2.76  dB
Phase Margin	$54.9^{\circ}$	$4.76^{\circ}$	$14.28^{\circ}$
RMS input noise voltage	$4.82 \ \mu V_{RMS}$	$1.06 \ \mu V_{RMS}$	$3.2 \ \mu V_{RMS}$
Power	$31.4 \ \mu W$	$3.49~\mu W$	$10.5 \ \mu W$
$\mathbf{SR}$	31.8  MV/sec	$0.6 \ \mathrm{MV/sec}$	$1.8 \ \mathrm{MV/sec}$
Upper voltage headroom	$45.86~\mathrm{mV}$	$3 \mathrm{mV}$	9  mV
Settling time	$242.26~\mathrm{nsec}$	6.86 nsec	$20.58~\mathrm{nsec}$

Table 5.4: Statistical results of the Monte Carlo simulations of the OTA

## 5.4 Modulator

The circuit simulation of the modulator takes too much time which makes it impractical Monte Carlo simulations of the entire circuit. Hence the response of the modulator was validated using nominal and PVT simulations. Since the performance of the modulator depends directly on the OTA behavior, the modulator was simulated using the conditions given in Table 5.3.

#### 5.4.1 Noiseless simulations

The modulator was simulated using a classical transient analysis which does not consider the devices noise. The PSD of the output signal is shown in Fig. 5.11. The response reaches 103.9dB of SQNR where the only noise source was that produced by the quantizer.



Figure 5.11: Nominal PSD of the modulator output.

Table 5.5 lists the quantization noise power values for each PVT simulation (see Table 5.3). It can be observed that in almost all the cases more than 17 bits were achieved, with the exception of **corner 5**, which is the environment that corresponds to the lowest power consumption of the OTA.

Simulation	SNR [dB]	ENOB [bits]	$P_{n,q,out} \ [dB]$	$P_{n,q,out} \ [pV^2]$
Typical 27C	103.9	17.0	-102.72	53.46
Corner 1	109.3	17.9	-108.12	15.42
Corner 2	107	17.5	-105.82	26.18
Corner 3	109.3	17.9	-108.12	15.42
Corner 4	104.1	17.0	-102.92	51.05
Corner 5	101	16.5	-99.82	104.23
Corner 6	104.5	17.1	-103.32	46.56
Corner 7	106.2	17.4	-105.02	31.48
Corner 8	104.5	17.1	-103.32	46.56
Corner 9	108.3	17.7	-107.12	19.41

Table 5.5: Results of the PVT simulations of the noiseless modulator.

#### 5.4.2 Noise simulation using SpectreRF

In order to estimate the total output noise generated by the devices, the modulator was simulated using the scheme proposed in [45]. Since the OTA is the highest noise source of the circuit, the output noise of the modulator was measured using the conditions listed in Table 5.3. The simulations of **corners 1, 3 and 9** are the the ones that have more output noise and are depicted in Fig. 5.12.



Figure 5.12: PVT simulation of the PSD of the modulator.

The results of the PVT simulations are listed in Table 5.6, where  $P_{n,dev,out}$ ,  $P_{n,q,out}$ and  $P_{n,out}$  are the noise powers at the output of the devices, the quantizer and the modulator, respectively. It can be seen that in each case, the SNR surpasses the 99dB which assures an ENOB 16 bits.

Simulation	$P_{n,dev,out}[pV^2] \\$	$P_{n,q,out}[pV^2] \\$	$P_{n,out}[pV^2] \\$	SNR	ENOB
Typical 27C	32.36	53.46	-100.66	101.84	16.6
Corner 1	84.66	15.41	-100.00	101.18	16.5
Corner 2	27.79	26.18	-102.68	103.86	17.0
Corner 3	63.75	15.42	-101.01	102.19	16.7
Corner 4	26.74	51.05	-101.09	102.27	16.7
Corner 5	29.29	104.23	-98.74	99.92	16.3
Corner 6	45.05	46.56	-100.38	101.56	16.6
Corner 7	25.89	31.48	-102.41	103.59	16.9
Corner 8	26.74	46.56	-101.35	102.53	16.7
Corner 9	47.67	19.41	-101.73	102.91	16.8

Table 5.6: Results of the PVT simulations of the noisy modulator.

#### 5.4.3 Noise simulation using transient noise

The modulator was simulated using the *transient noise* feature of the simulator. The PSD of the output signal is shown in Fig. 5.13. It can be appreciated that the results agree with the value shown in Table 5.6. This simulation was performed to demonstrate that similar results were obtained by two different methods. The PVT simulations were not performed since the *transient noise* simulation takes very long times.



Figure 5.13: Nominal transient noise simulation of the modulator.

# 5.5 Comparison and performance summary

Tables 5.7 and 5.8 show the main results<sup>1</sup>. It can be seen that the figure of merit (pJ/step) of the present work is among the lowest values. It is only largely overcome by the technique proposed in [29], where the design was specially focused in power consumption reduction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The results were obtained from the nominal simulation of the transient noise

Ref.	Tech. $[\mu m]$	Supply [V]	BW [KHz]	OSR	fs [MHz]
[17]	0.13	1.2	10.0	128	2.560
[18]	0.15	1.6	2.0	80	0.320
[19]	0.18	1.8	10.0	64	1.280
[20]	0.13	0.8	10.0	40	0.800
[16]	0.13	1.2	14.0	128	3.584
[21]	0.18	0.8	10.0	128	2.560
[22]	0.065	0.9	0.5	250	0.250
[24]	0.18	1.5	1.0	128	0.256
[25]	0.35	1.5	1.0	64	0.128
[26]	0.35	1.8	1.0	16	0.032
[28]	0.18	1.8	10.0	250	5.000
[29]	0.13	1	8.0	40	1.048
[30]	0.35	1	2.0	64	0.256
[31]	0.35	2	1.0	128	0.320
[33]	0.18	0.9	10.0	256	5.000
[34]	0.18	3.3	10.0	256	5.120
[35]	0.18	1.8	4.0	125	1.000
[36]	0.35	1.5	3.9	128	1.000
This work	0.18	1.8	2.0	256	1.000

Table 5.7: Comparisons with other approaches proposed in the literature.

Table 5.8: Comparisons with other approaches proposed in the literature (cont).

Ref.	SNDR [dB]	Power $[\mu W]$	${f FOM} [p{f J/step}]$	FOM [dB]	ENOB bit
[17]	87.8	148.0	0.37	166.1	14.3
[18]	64	96.0	18.53	137.2	10.3
[19]	95	210.0	0.23	171.8	15.5
[20]	82	48.0	0.23	165.2	13.3
[16]	99	316.0	0.15	175.5	16.2
[21]	80.3	54.0	0.32	163.0	13.0
[22]	76	2.1	0.41	159.8	12.3
[24]	93	1350.0	18.49	151.7	15.2
[25]	89.8	20.0	0.40	166.8	14.6
[26]	80	9.0	0.55	160.5	13.0
[28]	85.8	33.0	0.10	170.6	14.0
[29]	92	38.0	0.07	175.2	15.0
[30]	60	5.0	1.53	146.0	9.7
[31]	77	120.0	10.37	146.2	12.5
[33]	80.1	200.0	1.21	157.1	13.0
[34]	99	1630.0	1.12	166.9	16.2
[35]	68	400.0	24.36	138.0	11.0
[36]	67.1	90.0	6.23	143.5	10.9
This work	102.1	60.9	0.14	177.3	16.7

# Chapter 6

# Conclusions

### 6.1 General Conclusions

- The entire design of a single-bit second-order ΣΔ modulator was presented in this dissertation. The circuit satisfies the main requirement of an electric energy measurement application which is a SNR greater than 99dB. The design features relatively low power consumption and robustness that were verify by PVT simulations. Although the design reaches the desired SNR, the circuit only performs proper operation within 2σ range, which means that 5% of the circuits are out of the specifications. The issue is that the input power noise of the OTA is affected by mismatch effects that have direct impact in the modulator response.
- This dissertation introduced a simple procedure to optimize the coefficients of the second-order ΣΔ modulator based on the iteration of the ideal Simulink model. In this specific design, the coefficients were optimized to achieve maximum SNR using minimum capacitance values by exploiting the output swing of the integrators. However, other designs could use the same principle to optimize the output range of the integrators or the DAC reference voltage always assuring high SNR.
- The OTA folded cascode with adaptive bias circuit was used to implement the integrator. It presents more advantages than the classical class AB amplifiers since it does not require an extra stage to drive current. The use of transistors in weak inversion avoid problems about the limited output swing. Additionally, the circuit requires low quiescent current and allow the achievement of a high SR.

# 6.2 Future Work

### 6.2.1 System level

- It would be useful to develop a modulator model that includes the statistical variation of the parameters. It would help in both ways. The first is to find the statistical specifications of the integrator. The second is to verify that the mismatch effects and process variations -observed in the circuit simulations-do not affect the modulator performance.
- The procedure to optimize the coefficients is based on the simulation of every possible combination of the variables (coefficients). If the procedure is applied to a third-order modulator, the number of variables increase and the time to obtain every possible combination becomes too long. Hence, the first proposal is developing an analytic model of the ΣΔ modulator that includes the output limits of the integrators. Thus, the optimization procedure can be extended to other modulator orders and topologies. The second proposal is using optimization methods to find the maximum SNR without exploring all the design space.

### 6.2.2 Circuit level

- In order to complete the design flow, the layout should be realized to verify that the parasitic capacitors do not affect the modulator response. This stage should be done considering that the noise of the digital circuit does not interfere with the analog signals. Subsequently, the chip should be fabricated and measured.
- An interesting idea is the entire characterization of the folded cascode OTA with adaptive bias circuit. This would allow the optimization of the amplifier, and hence the power consumption could be reduced without degrading its performance.

# Bibliography

- BRIGATI, S., FRANCESCONI, F., MALCOVATI, P., et al. "Modeling sigmadelta modulator non-idealities in SIMULINK(R)". In: Circuits and Systems, 1999. ISCAS '99. Proceedings of the 1999 IEEE International Symposium on, v. 2, pp. 384–387 vol.2, 1999. doi: 10.1109/ISCAS.1999. 780739.
- [2] MALOBERTI, F. Data converters. Dordrecht, Netherlands, Springer, 2007. ISBN: 978-0387324852.
- [3] SCHREIER, R., TEMES, G. C. Understanding delta-sigma data converters. Piscataway, NJ Hoboken, N.J. Chichester, IEEE Press Wiley, 2005. ISBN: 0471465852.
- [4] NORSWORTHY, S., SCHREIER, R., TEMES, G. C. Delta-Sigma data converters theory, design, and simulation. New York, IEEE Press, 1996. ISBN: 978-0780310452.
- [5] YAO, L., STEYAERT, M., SANSEN, W. Low-power low-voltage sigma-delta modulators in nanometer CMOS. Dordrecht, Springer, 2006. ISBN: 978-1-4020-4140-2.
- [6] RÍO, R., MEDEIRO, F., PÉREZ, B., et al. CMOS cascade sigma-delta modulators for sensors and telecom error analysis and practical design. Dordrecht, Springer, 2006. ISBN: 978-1-4020-4776-3.
- [7] ORTMANNS, M., GERFERS, F. Continuous-time sigma-delta A/D conversion fundamentals, performance limits and robust implementations. Berlin New York, Springer, 2006. ISBN: 978-3-540-28473-4.
- [8] PLASSCHE, R. CMOS integrated analog-to-digital and digital-to-analog converters. Boston, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2003. ISBN: 978-1-4020-7500-1.
- [9] DELORAINE, E. M., VAN MIERLO, S., DERJAVITCH, B. "Methode et système de transmission par impulsions". August 1946.

- [10] DELORAINE, E. M., VAN MIERLO, S., DERJAVITCH, B. "Communication System Utilizing Constant Amplitude Pulses of Opposite Polarities". February 1953.
- [11] DE JAGER, F. "Delta Modulation: A Method of PCM Transmission Using the One Unit Code", *Phillips Research Reports*, v. 7, pp. 542–546, 1952.
- [12] CUTLER, C. C. "Transmission Systems Employing Quantization,". March 1960.
- [13] INOSE, H., YASUDA, Y., MURAKAMI, J. "A Telemetering System by Code Modulation ΣΔ Modulation", Space Electronics and Telemetry, IRE Transactions on, v. SET-8, n. 3, pp. 204–209, 1962. ISSN: 0096-252X. doi: 10.1109/IRET-SET.1962.5008839.
- [14] DE LA ROSA, J. "Sigma-Delta Modulators: Tutorial Overview, Design Guide, and State-of-the-Art Survey", *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, *IEEE Transactions on*, v. 58, n. 1, pp. 1–21, 2011. ISSN: 1549-8328. doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2010.2097652.
- [15] SILVA, J., MOON, U., STEENSGAARD, J., et al. "Wideband low-distortion delta-sigma ADC topology", *Electronics Letters*, v. 37, n. 12, pp. 737–738, 2001. ISSN: 0013-5194. doi: 10.1049/el:20010542.
- [16] LANG, W., WAN, P., LIN, P. "A ΣΔ modulator for low power energy meter application". In: Solid-State and Integrated Circuit Technology (ICSICT), 2012 IEEE 11th International Conference on, pp. 1–3, 2012. doi: 10.1109/ ICSICT.2012.6467893.
- [17] NILCHI, A., JOHNS, D. "A Low-Power Delta-Sigma Modulator Using a Charge-Pump Integrator", *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, v. 60, n. 5, pp. 1310–1321, 2013. ISSN: 1549-8328. doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2012.2220462.
- [18] GARCIA, J., RODRIGUEZ, S., RUSU, A. "A Low-Power CT Incremental 3rd Order Biosensor Applications", *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, *IEEE Transactions on*, v. 60, n. 1, pp. 25–36, 2013. ISSN: 1549-8328. doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2012.2215753.
- [19] PORRAZZO, S., CANNILLO, F., VAN HOOF, C., et al. "A Power-Optimal Design Methodology for High-Resolution Low-Bandwidth SC ΔΣ Modulators", *Instrumentation and Measurement, IEEE Transactions on*, v. 61, n. 11, pp. 2896–2904, 2012. ISSN: 0018-9456. doi: 10.1109/TIM.2012. 2200812.

- [20] LANG, W., WAN, P., LIN, P. "A 0.8-V 48 μW 82dB SNDR 10-kHz bandwidth ΣΔ modulator". In: Radio-Frequency Integration Technology (RFIT), 2012 IEEE International Symposium on, pp. 89–91, 2012. doi: 10.1109/RFIT.2012.6401623.
- [21] HSIAO, C.-H., CHEN, W.-L., HSIEH, C.-C. "A 0.8 V 80.3 dB SNDR stage-shared ΔΣ modulator with chopper-embedded switched-opamp for biomedical application". In: Solid State Circuits Conference (A-SSCC), 2012 IEEE Asian, pp. 253–256, 2012. doi: 10.1109/IPEC.2012.6522673.
- [22] FAZLI YEKNAMI, A., ALVANDPOUR, A. "A 2.1  $\mu$ W 76 dB SNDR DT- $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator for medical implant devices". In: *NORCHIP*, 2012, pp. 1–4, 2012. doi: 10.1109/NORCHP.2012.6403118.
- [23] MICHEL, F., STEYAERT, M. "A 250mV 7.5 μW 61dB SNDR CMOS SC ΔΣ modulator using a near-threshold-voltage-biased CMOS inverter technique". In: Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC), 2011 IEEE International, pp. 476–478, 2011. doi: 10.1109/ ISSCC.2011.5746404.
- [24] WANG, Y., LI, Y., YU, M. "A 16 bit low voltage low power Delta Sigma modulator". In: *Electronic and Mechanical Engineering and Information Technology (EMEIT), 2011 International Conference on*, v. 6, pp. 3178– 3181, 2011. doi: 10.1109/EMEIT.2011.6023761.
- [25] XU, J., WU, X., WANG, H., et al. "Power optimization of high performance ΔΣ modulators for portable measurement applications". In: Solid State Circuits Conference (A-SSCC), 2010 IEEE Asian, pp. 1–4, 2010. doi: 10.1109/ASSCC.2010.5716632.
- [26] XU, J., WU, X., ZHAO, M., et al. "9 μW 88dB DR fully-clocked switchedopamp ΔΣ modulator with novel efficient resonator", *Electronics Letters*, v. 46, n. 19, pp. 1313–1315, 2010. ISSN: 0013-5194. doi: 10.1049/el.2010. 1776.
- [27] WANG, Y., ZHAO, F., LI, Y. "A 2.38-mW 93.22-dB SNR third-order switched capacitor feedforward delta sigma ADC". In: Laser Physics and Laser Technologies (RCSLPLT) and 2010 Academic Symposium on Optoelectronics Technology (ASOT), 2010 10th Russian-Chinese Symposium on, pp. 360–364, 2010. doi: 10.1109/RCSLPLT.2010.5615350.
- [28] LIANG, J., JOHNS, D. "A frequency-scalable 15-bit incremental ADC for low power sensor applications". In: Circuits and Systems (ISCAS), Proceed-

*ings of 2010 IEEE International Symposium on*, pp. 2418–2421, 2010. doi: 10.1109/ISCAS.2010.5537172.

- [29] QI, D., WEN LI, Y., CHENG, L., et al. "An ultra low power sigma-delta modulator for hearing aid with double-sampling". In: ASIC, 2009. ASICON '09. IEEE 8th International Conference on, pp. 1141–1144, 2009. doi: 10.1109/ASICON.2009.5351366.
- [30] XU, M., RODRIGUEZ-VILLEGAS, E. "A 1V low power sigma-delta modulator based on floating gate MOS transistors". In: *Circuit Theory and Design, 2007. ECCTD 2007. 18th European Conference on*, pp. 48–51, 2007. doi: 10.1109/ECCTD.2007.4529533.
- [31] GUNDEL, A., CARR, W. "A micro power sigma-delta A/D converter in 0.35μM CMOS for low frequency applications". In: Systems, Applications and Technology Conference, 2007. LISAT 2007. IEEE Long Island, pp. 1–7, 2007. doi: 10.1109/LISAT.2007.4312641.
- [32] LEE, S.-Y., CHENG, C.-J. "A Low-Voltage and Low-Power Adaptive Switched-Current Sigma-Delta ADC for Bio-Acquisition Microsystems", *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, v. 53, n. 12, pp. 2628–2636, 2006. ISSN: 1549-8328. doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2006.883854.
- [33] GOES, J., VAZ, B., MONTEIRO, R., et al. "A 0.9V ΔΣ Modulator with 80dB SNDR and 83dB DR Using a Single-Phase Technique". In: Solid-State Circuits Conference, 2006. ISSCC 2006. Digest of Technical Papers. IEEE International, pp. 191–200, 2006. doi: 10.1109/ISSCC.2006.1696048.
- [34] LU, Z., GOSSELIN, B., SAWAN, M. "A 16-bit sigma-delta modulator for low power medical implantable sensors". In: *Electronics, Circuits and* Systems, 2005. ICECS 2005. 12th IEEE International Conference on, pp. 1-4, 2005. doi: 10.1109/ICECS.2005.4633568.
- [35] LUO, C.-H., SHIH, Y.-W., HSU, C.-M., et al. "DESIGNING LOW POWER OF SIGMA DELTA MODULATOR FOR BIOMEDICAL APPLICATION", Biomedical Engineering: Applications, Basis and Communications, v. 17, n. 04, pp. 181–185, 2005. doi: 10.4015/ S1016237205000287. Disponível em: <a href="http://www.worldscientific.com/doi/abs/10.4015/S1016237205000287">http://www.worldscientific.com/doi/abs/10.4015/S1016237205000287</a>>.
- [36] LEE, T.-S., LIN, W.-B., LEE, D.-L. "Design techniques for micropower lowvoltage CMOS switched-capacitor delta-sigma modulator". In: *Circuits*

and Systems, 2004. MWSCAS '04. The 2004 47th Midwest Symposium on, v. 3, pp. iii-331-4 vol.3, 2004. doi: 10.1109/MWSCAS.2004.1354362.

- [37] SAUERBREY, J., TILLE, T., SCHMITT-LANDSIEDEL, D., et al. "A 0.7V MOSFET-only switched-opamp ΣΔ modulator". In: Solid-State Circuits Conference, 2002. Digest of Technical Papers. ISSCC. 2002 IEEE International, v. 1, pp. 310–469 vol.1, 2002. doi: 10.1109/ISSCC.2002.993056.
- [38] MALCOVATI, P., BRIGATI, S., FRANCESCONI, F., et al. "Behavioral modeling of switched-capacitor sigma-delta modulators", *Circuits and Systems I: Fundamental Theory and Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, v. 50, n. 3, pp. 352–364, 2003. ISSN: 1057-7122. doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2003.808892.
- [39] MEDEIRO, F., PEREZ-VERDU, B., RODRIGUEZ-VAZQUEZ, A., et al. "Modeling opamp-induced harmonic distortion for switched-capacitor Sigma; Delta; modulator design". In: *Circuits and Systems, 1994. IS-CAS '94., 1994 IEEE International Symposium on*, v. 5, pp. 445–448 vol.5, 1994. doi: 10.1109/ISCAS.1994.409405.
- [40] RAZAVI, B. Design of analog CMOS integrated circuits. Boston, MA, McGraw-Hill, 2001. ISBN: 978-0072380323.
- [41] BAKER, R. CMOS : circuit design, layout, and simulation. Piscataway, NJ Hoboken, NJ, IEEE Press Wiley, 2010. ISBN: 978-0-470-88132-3.
- [42] RI?O, R. CMOS cascade sigma-delta modulators for sensors and telecom error analysis and practical design. Dordrecht, Springer, 2006. ISBN: 978-1-4020-4775-6.
- [43] LOPEZ-MARTIN, A., BASWA, S., RAMIREZ-ANGULO, J., et al. "Low-Voltage Super class AB CMOS OTA cells with very high slew rate and power efficiency", *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, v. 40, n. 5, pp. 1068–1077, 2005. ISSN: 0018-9200. doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2005.845977.
- [44] CARVAJAL, R., RAMIREZ-ANGULO, J., LOPEZ-MARTIN, A., et al. "The flipped voltage follower: a useful cell for low-voltage low-power circuit design", *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, v. 52, n. 7, pp. 1276–1291, 2005. ISSN: 1549-8328. doi: 10.1109/TCSI. 2005.851387.
- [45] TERROVITIS, M., KUNDRET, K. Device Noise Simulation of ΣΔ Modulators, May 2006. Disponível em: <http://www.designers-guide.org/ analysis/delta-sigma.pdf>.